

South Carolina Compilation of School Discipline Laws and Regulations

Prepared: March 31, 2023

Introduction

This compilation presents school discipline-related laws and regulations for U.S. states, U.S. territories, and the District of Columbia, and, where available, links to education agency websites or resources related to school discipline and student conduct. The discipline laws and regulations presented in this compilation have been categorized by type of specific discipline issue covered, according to an organizational framework developed by the National Center for Safe and Supportive Learning Environments (NCSSLE). For example, one major category encompasses all laws or regulations governing states or territories that mandate specific disciplinary sanctions (such as suspension) for specific offenses (such as drug possession on school grounds). The school discipline laws and regulations were compiled through exhaustive searches of legislative websites that identified all laws and regulations relevant to each specific category. Compiled materials were subsequently reviewed by state education agency (SEA) representatives in the 50 states, Washington D.C., and the U.S. territories.

Discipline categories were not mutually exclusive. Laws and regulations often appeared across multiple categories. For jurisdictions with more extensive laws covering a breadth of topical areas, relevant sections were excerpted from the larger legislative text for inclusion in the appropriate discipline category. Laws, ordered by chapter and section number, appear first within each category followed by regulations. All laws and regulations listed within categories in the compilation also appear in the sources cited section of the document, which lists laws by chapter and section number and title, and where available, includes active hyperlinks to source websites supported or maintained by state legislatures. Additional links to government websites or resources are provided at the end of this document.

Notes & Disclaimers

To the best of the preparer's knowledge, this Compilation of School Discipline Laws and Regulations is complete and current as of March 2023. Readers should also note that the information in this document was compiled from individual sources that are created by each jurisdiction and which are maintained and updated with varying frequencies. Readers should consult the source information provided directly in order to check for updates to laws and regulations reported in this document or to conduct further research.

For further information, including definitions of the different policy categories, please refer to the <u>Discipline Laws and Regulations Compendium</u> posted on the Center's website.

Prepared by:



Table of Contents

South Carolina State Codes Cited	
Codes of Conduct	4
Authority to Develop and Establish Codes of Conduct	4
Scope	5
Communication of Policy	6
In-School Discipline	8
Discipline Frameworks	8
Teacher Authority to Remove Students From Classrooms	12
Alternatives to Suspension	13
Conditions on Use of Certain Forms of Discipline	14
Corporal Punishment	14
Search and Seizure	14
Restraint and Seclusion	15
Exclusionary Discipline: Suspension, Expulsion, and Alternative Placement	16
Grounds for Suspension or Expulsion	
Limitations or Conditions on Exclusionary Discipline	22
Due Process	27
Return to School Following Removal	29
Alternative Placements	30
Discipline Addressing Specific Code of Conduct Violations	34
Firearms and Other Weapons Violations	34
Students with Chronic Disciplinary Issues	34
Chronic Absenteeism and Truancy	36
Substance Use	41
Gang-related Activity	43
Bullying, Harassment, or Hazing	
Dating and Relationship Violence	45
Prevention, Behavioral Intervention, and Supports	46
State Model Policies and Implementation Support	46
Multi-tiered Frameworks and Systems of Support	48
Prevention	
Social-emotional Learning (SEL)	
Trauma-informed Practices	
Mental Health Literacy Training	
School-based Behavioral Health Programs	50
Monitoring and Accountability	
Formal Incident Reporting of Conduct Violations	
Parental Notification	
Data Collection, Review, and Reporting of Discipline Policies and Actions	55

Partnerships between Schools and Law Enforcement	57
Referrals to Law Enforcement	57
School Resource Officer (SRO) or School Security Officer (SSO) Training or Certification	58
Authorizations, Memoranda of Understanding (MOUs), and/or Funding	59
Threat Assessment Protocols	60
State-Sponsored, Publicly Available Websites or Other Resources on School Discipline	61

South Carolina State Codes Cited

South Carolina Revised Statutes

Title 5. Municipal Corporations

<u>Chapter 7. General Structure, Organization, Powers, Duties, Functions and Responsibilities of All Municipalities</u>

5-7-12. School resource officers; procedures for certain arrests; jurisdiction;

employment rights

Title 16. Crimes and Offenses

Chapter 8. Offenses Promoting Civil Disorder

6-18-340. Community anti-gang matching grants program

Title 44. Health

Chapter 49. Department of Alcohol and Other Drug Abuse Services

44-49-80. Establishment of drug abuse treatment program

Chapter 128. South Carolina Youth Smoking Prevention Act

44-128-20. Youth smoking prevention plan

Title 59. Education

Chapter 1. General Provisions

Article 5. Miscellaneous Provisions

59-1-380. Mandatory tobacco and alternative nicotine product-free local school board policy

59-1-454. Parental involvement program; parent/teacher conferences

Chapter 5. State Board of Education

59-5-65. Powers and responsibilities of State Board of Education

Chapter 17. School Districts

59-17-135. Character education

Chapter 18. Education Accountability Act

Article 9. Reporting

59-18-900. Annual report cards; performance ratings; criteria; annual school progress

narrative; trustee training; data regulations; military-connected student performance

reports

Article 15. Intervention and Assistance

59-18-1600. Parent orientation classes

Chapter 24. School Administrators

Article 1. General Provisions

59-24-60. Requirement of school officials to contact law enforcement authorities when

criminal conduct occurs

Chapter 63. Pupils Generally

Article 1. General Provisions

59-63-32. Requirements to enroll child in public school; affidavit; penalties for providing

false information

Article 2. Safe School Climate Act

59-63-110.	Citation of article
59-63-120.	Definitions
59-63-130.	Prohibited conduct; reports by witnesses.
59-63-140.	Local school districts to adopt policies prohibiting harassment; required components; model policies by State Board of Education; bullying prevention programs
59-63-150.	Availability of civil or criminal redress; immunity of reporting school employee or
	volunteer

Article 3. Discipline

59-63-210.	Grounds for which trustees may expel, suspend or transfer pupils; petition for readmission; expulsion, suspension, or transfer
59-63-217.	Barring enrollment of student; grounds; notice and hearing; duration of bar
59-63-220.	Suspension of pupils by administrator
59-63-230.	Notices of suspensions; conferences with parents or guardian
59-63-235.	Expulsion of student determined to have brought firearm to school
59-63-240.	Expulsion for remainder of year; hearings
59-63-250.	Transfer of pupils
59-63-260.	Corporal punishment
59-63-275.	Student hazing prohibited; definitions

Article 4. School Crime Report Act

59-63-320.	Reporting form
59-63-330.	Quarterly and annual reports
59-63-333.	School crime requirements to conform to federal "No Child Left Behind Act"
59-63-335.	Failure of school administrator to report criminal conduct; liability
59-63-350.	Local law enforcement
59-63-360.	Attorney General; representation of school districts
59-63-380.	School official reporting school related crimes; immunity

Article 5. Enrollment and Transfer

59-63-425. Transfer upon violation of restraining order; interscholastic activity eligibility

Article 11. Search of Persons and Effects on School Property

59-63-1110.	Consent to search person or his effects
59-63-1120.	Searches by school administrators or officials with or without probable cause
59-63-1130.	Searches by principals or their designees
59-63-1140.	Strip searches prohibited

59-63-1150.	Compliance with case law; training of school administrators
59-63-1160.	Posting of notice; costs of notice to be paid by State; effect of failure to post notice

Article 13. Alternative Schools

59-63-1300.	Alternative school programs established
59-63-1310. 59-63-1320.	Individual or cooperative programs; funding; sites Referral or placement of students in alternative school programs
59-63-1330.	Discretion of school board
59-63-1340.	Permissible divergence from traditional programs and schools
59-63-1350.	Eligibility for funding
59-63-1380.	Funding for alternative school programs
59-63-1390.	Regulations; annual review
59-63-1400.	Review; technical assistance

Chapter 65. Attendance of Pupils

Article 1. Compulsory Attendance

59-65-50.	Nonattendance reported to court having jurisdiction of juveniles
59-65-60.	Procedure upon receipt by court of report of nonattendance
59-65-70.	Court empowered to declare child delinquent
59-65-80.	Enrollment or attendance of expelled or suspended child not authorized
59-65-90.	Rules and regulations

Article 3. Attendance Supervisors

59-65-260. Duties of attendance supervisor relating to nonattending children

Chapter 66. School Safety Coordinators

59-66-40. School safety task force

Chapter 67. Transportation of Pupils; School Buses

Article 1. General Provisions

59-67-240. Other duties of driver; discipline of pupils for misconduct

South Carolina Regulations

South Carolina Code of State Regulations

Chapter 43. State Board of Education

Article 13. General School Administration

43-166. Student and school safety

Article 17. Personnel

43-210. School resource officers

Article 20. Students

43-274.	Student attendance
43-274.1.	At-risk students

43-279. Minimum standards of student conduct and disciplinary enforcement procedures to

be implemented by local school districts

Codes of Conduct

Authority to Develop and Establish Codes of Conduct

LAWS

59-1-380. Mandatory tobacco and alternative nicotine product-free local school board policy.

(A) By August 1, 2019, every local school district in the State shall adopt, implement, and enforce a written policy prohibiting at all times the use of any tobacco product or alternative nicotine product by any person in school buildings, in school facilities, on school campuses, and in or on any other school property owned or operated by the local school administrative unit. The policy also must prohibit the use of any tobacco product or alternative nicotine product by persons attending a school-sponsored event at a location not listed in this subsection when in the presence of students or school personnel or in an area where smoking or other tobacco use is otherwise prohibited by law.

59-5-65. Powers and responsibilities of State Board of Education.

The State Board of Education shall have the power and responsibility to:

- (1) Establish on or before August 15, 1985, regulations prescribing minimum standards of conduct and behavior that must be met by all pupils as a condition to the right of pupils to attend the public schools of the State. The rules shall take into account the necessity of proper conduct on the part of all pupils in order that the welfare of the greatest possible number of pupils shall be promoted notwithstanding that the rules may result in suspension or expulsion of pupils, provided, however, that disciplinary procedures shall be in compliance with Public Law 94-142.
- (2) Promulgate on or before August 15, 1985, regulations prescribing a uniform system of minimum enforcement by the various school districts of the rules of conduct and behavior.

59-63-140. Local school districts to adopt policies prohibiting harassment; required components; model policies by State Board of Education; bullying prevention programs.

(A) Before January 1, 2007, each local school district shall adopt a policy prohibiting harassment, intimidation, or bullying at school. The school district shall involve parents and guardians, school employees, volunteers, students, administrators, and community representatives in the process of creating the policy.

59-63-220. Suspension of pupils by administrator.

Any district board may confer upon any administrator the authority to suspend a pupil from a teacher's class or from the school not in excess of ten days for any one offense and for not more than thirty days in any one school year but no such administrator may suspend a pupil from school during the last ten days of a year if the suspension will make the pupil ineligible to receive credit for the school year without the approval of the school board unless the presence of the pupil constitutes an actual threat to a class or a school or a hearing is granted within twenty-four hours of the suspension.

59-63-1330. Discretion of school board.

Nothing in this article shall abrogate the authority of any public school district and its governing board to take such disciplinary action as it is otherwise empowered by law to take against any student for misconduct including, but not limited to, expulsion, and nothing in this chapter shall require that any student be assigned to such an alternative school. These decisions shall rest solely in the discretion of the district and school board, regardless of the offense, record of the child, or other information presented from any source.

REGULATIONS

43-279. Minimum standards of student conduct and disciplinary enforcement procedures to be implemented by local school districts.

I. Expectations for Student Conduct in South Carolina Public Schools

The mission of the SCDE is to provide leadership and support so that all public education students graduate prepared for success in citizenship, college, and careers as envisioned by the Profile of the South Carolina Graduate. Students in the public schools of South Carolina enjoy the same basic rights of United States citizenship as do other United States citizens. The rights of students are supported by the responsibility to insure that the rights of others are respected. This regulation is adopted with the intent to better assure that the opportunity to enjoy the benefits of public education is available to all those attending the public schools of the state of South Carolina.

II. Previously Adopted School District Discipline Policies

This regulation is established as a uniform system of minimum disciplinary enforcement for the school districts of South Carolina. School districts that previously have adopted discipline policies that are consistent with and contain the elements included in this regulation may retain their local policies as adopted.

Scope

LAWS

5-7-12. School resource officers; procedures for certain arrests; jurisdiction; employment rights.

- (A) The governing body of a municipality or county may upon the request of another governing body or of another political subdivision of the State, including school districts, designate certain officers to be assigned to the duty of a school resource officer and to work within the school systems of the municipality or county. The person assigned as a school resource officer shall have statewide jurisdiction to arrest persons committing crimes in connection with a school activity or school-sponsored event. In all circumstances in which a school resource officer arrests a student for a misdemeanor offense, the officer may issue a courtesy summons to appear to a student involved in the particular incident in connection with a school activity or school-sponsored event. Notwithstanding another provision of law, a student arrested for a misdemeanor offense by a school resource officer must have a bond hearing in magistrates court within twenty-four hours of his arrest. When acting pursuant to this section and outside of the sworn municipality or county of the school resource officer, the officer shall enjoy all authority, rights, privileges, and immunities, including coverage under the workers' compensation laws that he would have enjoyed if operating in his sworn jurisdiction.
- (B) For purposes of this section, a "school resource officer" is defined as a person who is a sworn law enforcement officer pursuant to the requirements of any jurisdiction of this State, who has completed the basic course of instruction for School Resource Officers as provided or recognized by the National Association of School Resource Officers or the South Carolina Criminal Justice Academy, and who is assigned to one or more school districts within this State to have as a primary duty the responsibility to act as a law enforcement officer, advisor, and teacher for that school district.

59-63-120. Definitions.

As used in this article:

(2) "School" means in a classroom, on school premises, on a school bus or other school-related vehicle, at an official school bus stop, at a school-sponsored activity or event whether or not it is held on school premises, or at another program or function where the school is responsible for the child.

59-63-140. Local school districts to adopt policies prohibiting harassment; required components; model policies by State Board of Education; bullying prevention programs.

- (A) Before January 1, 2007, each local school district shall adopt a policy prohibiting harassment, intimidation, or bullying at school. The school district shall involve parents and guardians, school employees, volunteers, students, administrators, and community representatives in the process of creating the policy.
- (B) The policy must include, but not be limited to, the following components:
 - (10) a statement of how the policy is to be publicized, including notice that the policy applies to participation in school-sponsored functions.

59-63-350. Local law enforcement.

Local law enforcement officials are required to contact the Attorney General's "school safety phone line" when any felony, assault and battery of a high and aggravated nature, crime involving a weapon, or drug offense is committed on school property or at a school-sanctioned or school-sponsored activity or any crime reported pursuant to Section 59-24-60.

REGULATIONS

No relevant regulations found.

Communication of Policy

LAWS

59-1-380. Mandatory tobacco and alternative nicotine product-free local school board policy.

- (A) By August 1, 2019, every local school district in the State shall adopt, implement, and enforce a written policy prohibiting at all times the use of any tobacco product or alternative nicotine product by any person in school buildings, in school facilities, on school campuses, and in or on any other school property owned or operated by the local school administrative unit. The policy also must prohibit the use of any tobacco product or alternative nicotine product by persons attending a school-sponsored event at a location not listed in this subsection when in the presence of students or school personnel or in an area where smoking or other tobacco use is otherwise prohibited by law.
- (B) The policy must include at least all of the following elements:
 - (1) adequate notice to students, parents or guardians, the public, and school personnel of the policy.

59-5-65. Powers and responsibilities of State Board of Education.

- (15) Develop by regulation a model safe schools checklist to be used by school districts on a regular basis to assess their schools' safety strengths and weaknesses. The checklist must include:
 - (a) the existence of a comprehensive safety plan;
 - (b) communication of discipline policies and procedures.

59-18-1600. Parent orientation classes.

- (A) A school that has received a school/district at-risk absolute academic performance rating on its most recent report card shall offer an orientation class for parents. The orientation class must focus on the following topics:
 - (3) student discipline.

59-63-140. Local school districts to adopt policies prohibiting harassment; required components; model policies by State Board of Education; bullying prevention programs.

- (A) Before January 1, 2007, each local school district shall adopt a policy prohibiting harassment, intimidation, or bullying at school. The school district shall involve parents and guardians, school employees, volunteers, students, administrators, and community representatives in the process of creating the policy.
- (B) The policy must include, but not be limited to, the following components:
 - (10) a statement of how the policy is to be publicized, including notice that the policy applies to participation in school-sponsored functions. [...]
- (D) The local school board shall ensure that the school district's policy developed pursuant to this article is included in the school district's publication of the comprehensive rules, procedures, and standards of conduct for schools and in the student's handbook.

59-63-1160. Posting of notice; costs of notice to be paid by State; effect of failure to post notice.

Notice must be conspicuously posted on school property informing the provisions of this article.

The notice must be posted at least at all regular entrances and any other access point to the school grounds.

The costs of posting the notice required by this section must be paid by the State. No school or school district shall be required to incur any financial obligation for complying with the notice requirements contained in this section. The failure to post the notice provided in this section shall not constitute a defense to any civil action or criminal prosecution and shall not constitute grounds for any legal liability.

REGULATIONS

43-166. Student and school safety.

A. School Safety Assessment

- 1. The State Department of Education shall develop a Model Safe Schools Checklist designed to assess schools' safety strengths and weaknesses. The checklist must include items addressing the following topics:
 - b. communication of discipline policies and procedures. [...]
- 2. The State Department of Education shall submit the checklist to the State Board of Education for approval prior to dissemination to the school districts. The checklist may be revised on an annual basis by the State Board of Education in compliance with relevant provisions of the Safe Schools Act of 1990.
- 3. Prior to September 30 of each school year, the State Department of Education shall disseminate a copy of the model safe schools checklist to every public school district in the state.

In-School Discipline

Discipline Frameworks

LAWS

No relevant laws found.

REGULATIONS

43-279. Minimum standards of student conduct and disciplinary enforcement procedures to be implemented by local school districts.

I. Expectations for Student Conduct in South Carolina Public Schools

The mission of the SCDE is to provide leadership and support so that all public education students graduate prepared for success in citizenship, college, and careers as envisioned by the Profile of the South Carolina Graduate. Students in the public schools of South Carolina enjoy the same basic rights of United States citizenship as do other United States citizens. The rights of students are supported by the responsibility to insure that the rights of others are respected. This regulation is adopted with the intent to better assure that the opportunity to enjoy the benefits of public education is available to all those attending the public schools of the state of South Carolina.

II. Previously Adopted School District Discipline Policies

This regulation is established as a uniform system of minimum disciplinary enforcement for the school districts of South Carolina. School districts that previously have adopted discipline policies that are consistent with and contain the elements included in this regulation may retain their local policies as adopted.

III. Levels of Student Misconduct

- A. The levels of student misconduct considered in this regulation are arranged by degrees of seriousness. The levels are arranged from the least serious to the most serious.
- B. Three levels of student misconduct are identified: behavioral misconduct, disruptive conduct, and criminal conduct. The levels are defined in this regulation.
- C. This regulation includes a listing of possible consequences and/or sanctions for the three levels of student misconduct. As the levels increase in seriousness, the severity of possible disciplinary consequences and/or sanctions increases.
- D. Suggested consequences within the Level I misconduct category range from verbal reprimand to detention. Level II misconduct includes sanctions ranging from temporary removal from class to expulsion. Level III misconduct includes sanctions ranging from out-of-school suspension to appropriate action within the criminal justice system.
- E. A local school board, in its discretion, may authorize more stringent standards and consequences than those contained in this regulation.

IV. Minimum Standards

A. Behavioral Misconduct-Level I

1. Behavioral misconduct is defined as those activities engaged in by student(s) which tend to impede orderly classroom procedures or instructional activities, orderly operation of the school, or the frequency or seriousness of which disturb the classroom or school. The provisions of this regulation apply not only to within-school activities, but also to student conduct on school bus transportation vehicles, and during other school-sponsored activities.

- 2. Acts of behavioral misconduct shall include, but are not limited to:
 - a. Classroom tardiness;
 - b. Cheating on examinations or classroom assignments;
 - c. Lying:
 - d. Abusive language between or among students;
 - e. Failure to comply with directives from school/district personnel or agents (to include volunteer aides or chaperones);
 - f. Use of forged notes or excuses;
 - g. Cutting class;
 - h. School tardiness;
 - i. Truancy (three consecutive unlawful absences from school or a total of five unlawful absences);
 - j. Possession of an electronic communication device (including, but not limited to, cell phones, tablets, computers, and iPods) inconsistent with school board policy. An electronic communication device is a device that emits an audible signal, vibrates, displays a message, image or otherwise summons or delivers a communication to the possessor;
 - k. Other acts of behavioral misconduct as determined and communicated by local school authorities.
- 3. The basic enforcement procedures to be followed in instances of behavioral misconduct are:
 - a. Upon observation or notification and verification of acts of behavioral misconduct, the staff member shall take immediate action to rectify the misconduct. The staff member shall impose an appropriate consequence, and maintain a record of the misconduct and the consequence.
 - b. If, either in the opinion of the staff member or according to local school board policy, a certain misconduct is not immediately rectifiable, the problem shall be referred to the appropriate administrator for action specified by local school board policy.
 - c. The administrator shall meet with the reporting staff member, and, if necessary, the student and the parent or guardian, and impose the appropriate consequence and/or establish an intervention plan and/or behavioral contract.
 - d. A complete record of the procedures shall be maintained.
- 4. Possible consequences to be applied in cases of behavioral misconduct may include, but are not limited to:
 - a. Verbal reprimand;
 - b. Withdrawal of privileges;
 - c. Demerits;
 - d. Detention (silent lunch, after school, weekends, or another time that does not interfere with the instructional day);
 - e. Other consequences as approved and communicated by local school authorities.
- B. Disruptive Conduct-Level II
 - 1. Disruptive conduct is defined as those activities engaged in by student(s) which are directed against persons or property, and the consequences of which tend to endanger the health or safety of oneself or others in the school. Some instances of disruptive conduct may overlap certain criminal offenses, justifying both administrative sanctions and court proceedings. Behavioral misconduct (Level I) may be reclassified as disruptive conduct (Level II) if it occurs three or more times. The

provisions of this regulation apply not only to within school activities, but also to student conduct on school bus transportation vehicles, and during other school-sponsored activities.

- 2. Acts of disruptive conduct may include, but are not limited to:
 - a. Violation of a Level I intervention plan and/or behavioral contract;
 - b. Use of an intoxicant;
 - c. Fighting;
 - d. Vandalism (minor);
 - e. Stealing;
 - f. Threats against others;
 - g. Trespass;
 - h. Abusive language to staff;
 - i. Repeated refusal to comply with directives from school personnel or agents (such as volunteer aides or chaperones);
 - j. Possession or use of unauthorized substances, as defined by law and/or local school board policy;
 - k. Illegally occupying or blocking in any way school property with the intent to deprive others of its use;
 - I. Unlawful assembly;
 - m. Disrupting lawful assembly;
 - n. Inappropriate use of technology (e.g., bullying, harassing, or intimidating other students or district employees, plagiarizing copyrighted materials, and accessing inappropriate websites);
 - o. Other acts as determined and communicated by local school authorities.
- 3. The basic enforcement procedures to be followed in instances of disruptive conduct are:
 - a. Upon observation or notification and verification of an offense, the administrator shall investigate the circumstances of the misconduct and shall confer with staff on the extent of the consequences.
 - b. The administrator shall notify the parent or guardian of the student's misconduct and related proceedings. The administrator shall meet with the student and, if necessary, the parent or guardian, confer with them about the student's misconduct and impose the appropriate disciplinary action. Verification shall be defined as the following:
 - (1) self-admittance by the student
 - (2) witnessed involvement of the student by school administrators staff
 - (3) parental admission of student involvement
 - (4) evidence obtained through investigation by school administrators and staff
 - c. The administrator may refer the student to the appropriate intervention team to establish behavioral management strategies (e.g., restorative justice, counseling, service learning projects) and propose the appropriate disciplinary action.
 - d. The administrator or other school officials may refer Level II misconduct to the School Resource Officer or other local law enforcement authorities only when the conduct rises to a level of criminality, and the conduct presents an immediate safety risk to one or more people or it is the third or subsequent act which rises to a level of criminality in that school year.
 - e. A complete record of the procedures shall be maintained.
- 4. Possible sanctions to be applied in cases of disruptive conduct may include, but are not limited to:

- a. Temporary removal from class;
- b. Alternative education program;
- c. In-school suspension;
- d. Out-of-school suspension;
- e. Transfer;
- f. Referral to outside agency;
- g. Expulsion;
- h. Restitution of property and damages, where appropriate, shall be sought by local school authorities;
- i. Other sanctions as approved and communicated by local school authorities.

C. Criminal Conduct-Level III

- 1. Criminal conduct is defined as those activities engaged in by student(s) which result in violence to oneself or another's person or property or which pose a direct and serious threat to the safety of oneself or others in the school. When school officials have a reasonable belief that students have engaged in such actions, then these activities usually require administrative actions which result in the immediate removal of the student from the school, the intervention of the School Resource Officer or other law enforcement authorities, and/or action by the local school board. The provisions of this regulation apply not only to within-school activities, but also to student conduct on school bus transportation vehicles, and during other school-sponsored activities.
- 2. Acts of criminal conduct may include, but are not limited to:
 - a. Assault and battery that poses a serious threat of injury or results in physical harm;
 - b. Extortion;
 - c. Threat of the use of a destructive device (bomb, grenade, pipe bomb or other similar device);
 - d. Possession, use, or transfer of dangerous weapons;
 - e. Sexual offenses;
 - f. Vandalism (major);
 - g. Theft, possession, or sale of stolen property;
 - h. Arson;
 - i. Furnishing or selling unauthorized substances, as defined by law and/or local school board policy;
 - j. Furnishing, selling, or possession of controlled substances (drugs, narcotics, or poisons);
 - k. Illegal use of technology (e.g., communicating a threat of a destructive device, weapon, or event with the intent of intimidating, threatening, or interfering with school activities and maliciously transmitting sexual images of minors other than images of the student or images transmitted with the uncoerced consent of the individual in the images).
- 3. "Acts of criminal conduct," for purposes of defining Level III conduct, do not include acts that only amount to disturbing schools, breach of peace, disorderly conduct, or affray under South Carolina law.
- 4. The basic enforcement procedures to be followed in instances of criminal conduct are:
 - a. Upon observation or notification and verification of a criminal offense, the administrator shall contact the School Resource Officer or local law enforcement authorities immediately.
 - b. An administrator shall notify the student's parent or guardian as soon as possible.
 - c. An administrator shall impose the appropriate disciplinary action. If warranted, the student shall be removed immediately from the school environment.

- d. Established due process procedures shall be followed when applicable.
- e. A complete record of the incident shall be maintained in accordance with district policy.
- 5. Possible sanctions to be applied in cases of criminal conduct may include, but are not limited to:
 - a. Out-of-school suspension;
 - b. Assignment to alternative schools;
 - c. Expulsion;
 - d. Restitution of property and damages, where appropriate, shall be sought by local school authorities;
 - e. Other sanctions as approved by local school authorities.
- D. Extenuating, Mitigating or Aggravating Circumstances
 - 1. A local school board may confer upon the appropriate administrator the authority to consider extenuating or mitigating circumstances which may exist in a particular case of misconduct, excluding criminal conduct. Such circumstances shall be considered in determining the most appropriate sanction to be used.
 - 2. A local school board may confer upon the appropriate administrator the authority to consider aggravating circumstances which may exist in a particular case of misconduct or criminal conduct. Such circumstances shall be considered in determining the most appropriate sanction to be used.
- V. Discipline of Students with Disabilities

For additional information regarding Disciplinary Procedures for students with disabilities, see Reg.43-243.

- VI. Other Areas of Student Conduct Which May Be Regulated by Local School Board Policy
 - A. Other areas of student conduct which are subject to regulation by local school boards include, but are not limited to:
 - 1. School attendance;
 - 2. Use of and access to public school property;
 - 3. Student dress and personal appearance;
 - 4. Speech and assembly within the public schools;
 - 5. Publications produced and/or distributed in the public schools;
 - 6. The existence, scope and conditions of availability of student privileges, including extracurricular activities and rules governing participation;
 - 7. Other activities not in conflict with existing state statutes or regulations as approved and communicated by the local school authorities.
 - B. Rules of student conduct are required by state and federal law to be reasonable exercises of the local school board's authority in pursuance of legitimate educational and related functions and shall not infringe upon students' constitutional rights.

Teacher Authority to Remove Students From Classrooms

LAWS

No relevant laws found.

REGULATIONS

No relevant regulations found.

Alternatives to Suspension

LAWS

59-1-380. Mandatory tobacco and alternative nicotine product-free local school board policy.

- (C) Disciplinary actions for violating the policy may include, but not be limited to:
 - (1) for students: administrator and parent or legal guardian conference, mandatory enrollment in tobacco prevention education or cessation programs, community service, in-school suspension, suspension for extracurricular activities, or out-of-school suspension.

59-65-60. Procedure upon receipt by court of report of nonattendance.

- (a) Upon receipt of such report, the court may forthwith order the appearance before such court of the responsible parent or guardian and if it deems necessary, the minor involved, for such action as the court may deem necessary to carry out the provisions of this article.
- (b) The court may, after hearing upon ten days notice, order such parent or guardian to require such child to attend school and upon failure of such parent to comply with such order may punish such parent or guardian as by contempt, provided, that punishment for such contempt cannot exceed fifty dollars or thirty days imprisonment for each offense.

The procedure herein provided shall be alternative to the penalties provided in § 59-65-20.

REGULATIONS

No relevant regulations found.

Conditions on Use of Certain Forms of Discipline

Corporal Punishment

LAWS

59-63-260. Corporal punishment.

The governing body of each school district may provide corporal punishment for any pupil that it deems just and proper.

REGULATIONS

No relevant regulations found.

Search and Seizure

LAWS

59-63-1110. Consent to search person or his effects.

Any person entering the premises of any school in this State shall be deemed to have consented to a reasonable search of his person and effects.

59-63-1120. Searches by school administrators or officials with or without probable cause.

Notwithstanding any other provision of law, school administrators and officials may conduct reasonable searches on school property of lockers, desks, vehicles, and personal belongings such as purses, bookbags, wallets, and satchels with or without probable cause.

59-63-1130. Searches by principals or their designees.

Notwithstanding any other provision of law, school principals or their designees may conduct reasonable searches of the person and property of visitors on school premises.

59-63-1140. Strip searches prohibited.

No school administrator or official may conduct a strip search.

59-63-1150. Compliance with case law; training of school administrators.

Notwithstanding any other provision of this article, all searches conducted pursuant to this article must comply fully with the "reasonableness standard" set forth in New Jersey v. T.L.O., 469 U.S. 328 (1985). All school administrators must receive training in the "reasonableness standard" under existing case law and in district procedures established to be followed in conducting searches of persons entering the school premises and of the students attending the school.

59-63-1160. Posting of notice; costs of notice to be paid by State; effect of failure to post notice.

Notice must be conspicuously posted on school property informing the provisions of this article.

The notice must be posted at least at all regular entrances and any other access point to the school grounds.

The costs of posting the notice required by this section must be paid by the State. No school or school district shall be required to incur any financial obligation for complying with the notice requirements

contained in this section. The failure to post the notice provided in this section shall not constitute a defense to any civil action or criminal prosecution and shall not constitute grounds for any legal liability.

REGULATIONS

No relevant regulations found.

Restraint and Seclusion

LAWS

No relevant laws found.

REGULATIONS

No relevant regulations found.

Exclusionary Discipline: Suspension, Expulsion, and Alternative Placement

Grounds for Suspension or Expulsion

LAWS

59-1-380. Mandatory tobacco and alternative nicotine product-free local school board policy.

- (C) Disciplinary actions for violating the policy may include, but not be limited to:
 - (1) for students: administrator and parent or legal guardian conference, mandatory enrollment in tobacco prevention education or cessation programs, community service, in-school suspension, suspension for extracurricular activities, or out-of-school suspension.

59-63-210. Grounds for which trustees may expel, suspend or transfer pupils; petition for readmission; expulsion, suspension, or transfer.

- (A) Any district board of trustees may authorize or order the expulsion, suspension, or transfer of any pupil for the commission of any crime, gross immorality, gross misbehavior, persistent disobedience, or for violation of written rules and promulgated regulations established by the district board, county board, or the State Board of Education, or when the presence of the pupil is detrimental to the best interest of the school. Each expelled pupil has the right to petition for readmission for the succeeding school year. Expulsion or suspension must be construed to prohibit a pupil from entering the school or school grounds, except for a prearranged conference with an administrator, attending any day or night school functions, or riding a school bus. The provisions of this section do not preclude enrollment and attendance in any adult or night school.
- (B) A district board of trustees shall not authorize or order the expulsion, suspension, or transfer of any pupil for a violation of Section 59-150-250(B).

59-63-235. Expulsion of student determined to have brought firearm to school.

The district board must expel for no less than one year a student who is determined to have brought a firearm to a school or any setting under the jurisdiction of a local board of trustees. The expulsion must follow the procedures established pursuant to Section 59-63-240. The one-year expulsion is subject to modification by the district superintendent of education on a case-by-case basis. Students expelled pursuant to this section are not precluded from receiving educational services in an alternative setting. Each local board of trustees is to establish a policy which requires the student to be referred to the local county office of the Department of Juvenile Justice or its representative.

59-63-240. Expulsion for remainder of year; hearings.

The board may expel for the remainder of the school year a pupil for any of the reasons listed in § 59-63-210. If procedures for expulsion are initiated, the parents or legal guardian of the pupil shall be notified in writing of the time and the place of a hearing either before the board or a person or committee designated by the board. At the hearing the parents or legal guardian shall have the right to legal counsel and to all other regular legal rights including the right to question all witnesses. If the hearing is held by any authority other than the board of trustees, the right to appeal the decision to the board is reserved to either party. The hearing shall take place within fifteen days of the written notification at a time and place designated by the board and a decision shall be rendered within ten days of the hearing. The pupil may be suspended from school and all school activities during the time of the expulsion procedures. The

action of the board may be appealed to the proper court. The board may permanently expel any incorrigible pupil.

59-67-240. Other duties of driver; discipline of pupils for misconduct.

The driver of each school bus shall cooperate with the teachers in their work in the school to which he is transporting pupils by being on time in the mornings and waiting in the afternoons until all his pupils are dismissed by the school faculty and safely aboard his bus. He also shall take particular notice along his route in the mornings and give pupils within sight a reasonable time in which to board his bus. The driver shall be responsible for maintaining good conduct upon his bus and shall report promptly to the governing head of the school to or from which the pupils are transported any misconduct or any violation of the driver's instructions by any person riding in his bus.

District boards of school trustees in this State may authorize school administrators to suspend or expel pupils from riding a school bus for misconduct on the bus or for violating instructions of the driver.

REGULATIONS

43-279. Minimum standards of student conduct and disciplinary enforcement procedures to be implemented by local school districts.

I. Expectations for Student Conduct in South Carolina Public Schools

The mission of the SCDE is to provide leadership and support so that all public education students graduate prepared for success in citizenship, college, and careers as envisioned by the Profile of the South Carolina Graduate. Students in the public schools of South Carolina enjoy the same basic rights of United States citizenship as do other United States citizens. The rights of students are supported by the responsibility to insure that the rights of others are respected. This regulation is adopted with the intent to better assure that the opportunity to enjoy the benefits of public education is available to all those attending the public schools of the state of South Carolina.

II. Previously Adopted School District Discipline Policies

This regulation is established as a uniform system of minimum disciplinary enforcement for the school districts of South Carolina. School districts that previously have adopted discipline policies that are consistent with and contain the elements included in this regulation may retain their local policies as adopted.

III. Levels of Student Misconduct

- A. The levels of student misconduct considered in this regulation are arranged by degrees of seriousness. The levels are arranged from the least serious to the most serious.
- B. Three levels of student misconduct are identified: behavioral misconduct, disruptive conduct, and criminal conduct. The levels are defined in this regulation.
- C. This regulation includes a listing of possible consequences and/or sanctions for the three levels of student misconduct. As the levels increase in seriousness, the severity of possible disciplinary consequences and/or sanctions increases.
- D. Suggested consequences within the Level I misconduct category range from verbal reprimand to detention. Level II misconduct includes sanctions ranging from temporary removal from class to expulsion. Level III misconduct includes sanctions ranging from out-of-school suspension to appropriate action within the criminal justice system.
- E. A local school board, in its discretion, may authorize more stringent standards and consequences than those contained in this regulation.
- IV. Minimum Standards

A. Behavioral Misconduct-Level I

- 1. Behavioral misconduct is defined as those activities engaged in by student(s) which tend to impede orderly classroom procedures or instructional activities, orderly operation of the school, or the frequency or seriousness of which disturb the classroom or school. The provisions of this regulation apply not only to within-school activities, but also to student conduct on school bus transportation vehicles, and during other school-sponsored activities.
- 2. Acts of behavioral misconduct shall include, but are not limited to:
 - a. Classroom tardiness;
 - b. Cheating on examinations or classroom assignments;
 - c. Lying;
 - d. Abusive language between or among students;
 - e. Failure to comply with directives from school/district personnel or agents (to include volunteer aides or chaperones);
 - f. Use of forged notes or excuses;
 - g. Cutting class;
 - h. School tardiness;
 - i. Truancy (three consecutive unlawful absences from school or a total of five unlawful absences);
 - j. Possession of an electronic communication device (including, but not limited to, cell phones, tablets, computers, and iPods) inconsistent with school board policy. An electronic communication device is a device that emits an audible signal, vibrates, displays a message, image or otherwise summons or delivers a communication to the possessor;
 - k. Other acts of behavioral misconduct as determined and communicated by local school authorities.
- 3. The basic enforcement procedures to be followed in instances of behavioral misconduct are:
 - a. Upon observation or notification and verification of acts of behavioral misconduct, the staff member shall take immediate action to rectify the misconduct. The staff member shall impose an appropriate consequence, and maintain a record of the misconduct and the consequence.
 - b. If, either in the opinion of the staff member or according to local school board policy, a certain misconduct is not immediately rectifiable, the problem shall be referred to the appropriate administrator for action specified by local school board policy.
 - c. The administrator shall meet with the reporting staff member, and, if necessary, the student and the parent or guardian, and impose the appropriate consequence and/or establish an intervention plan and/or behavioral contract.
 - d. A complete record of the procedures shall be maintained.
- 4. Possible consequences to be applied in cases of behavioral misconduct may include, but are not limited to:
 - a. Verbal reprimand;
 - b. Withdrawal of privileges;
 - c. Demerits;
 - d. Detention (silent lunch, after school, weekends, or another time that does not interfere with the instructional day);
 - e. Other consequences as approved and communicated by local school authorities.
- B. Disruptive Conduct-Level II

- 1. Disruptive conduct is defined as those activities engaged in by student(s) which are directed against persons or property, and the consequences of which tend to endanger the health or safety of oneself or others in the school. Some instances of disruptive conduct may overlap certain criminal offenses, justifying both administrative sanctions and court proceedings. Behavioral misconduct (Level I) may be reclassified as disruptive conduct (Level II) if it occurs three or more times. The provisions of this regulation apply not only to within school activities, but also to student conduct on school bus transportation vehicles, and during other school-sponsored activities.
- 2. Acts of disruptive conduct may include, but are not limited to:
 - a. Violation of a Level I intervention plan and/or behavioral contract;
 - b. Use of an intoxicant;
 - c. Fighting;
 - d. Vandalism (minor);
 - e. Stealing;
 - f. Threats against others;
 - g. Trespass;
 - h. Abusive language to staff;
 - i. Repeated refusal to comply with directives from school personnel or agents (such as volunteer aides or chaperones);
 - j. Possession or use of unauthorized substances, as defined by law and/or local school board policy;
 - k. Illegally occupying or blocking in any way school property with the intent to deprive others of its use:
 - I. Unlawful assembly;
 - m. Disrupting lawful assembly;
 - n. Inappropriate use of technology (e.g., bullying, harassing, or intimidating other students or district employees, plagiarizing copyrighted materials, and accessing inappropriate websites);
 - o. Other acts as determined and communicated by local school authorities.
- 3. The basic enforcement procedures to be followed in instances of disruptive conduct are:
 - a. Upon observation or notification and verification of an offense, the administrator shall investigate the circumstances of the misconduct and shall confer with staff on the extent of the consequences.
 - b. The administrator shall notify the parent or guardian of the student's misconduct and related proceedings. The administrator shall meet with the student and, if necessary, the parent or guardian, confer with them about the student's misconduct and impose the appropriate disciplinary action. Verification shall be defined as the following:
 - (1) self-admittance by the student
 - (2) witnessed involvement of the student by school administrators staff
 - (3) parental admission of student involvement
 - (4) evidence obtained through investigation by school administrators and staff
 - c. The administrator may refer the student to the appropriate intervention team to establish behavioral management strategies (e.g., restorative justice, counseling, service learning projects) and propose the appropriate disciplinary action.
 - d. The administrator or other school officials may refer Level II misconduct to the School Resource Officer or other local law enforcement authorities only when the conduct rises to a level of

criminality, and the conduct presents an immediate safety risk to one or more people or it is the third or subsequent act which rises to a level of criminality in that school year.

- e. A complete record of the procedures shall be maintained.
- 4. Possible sanctions to be applied in cases of disruptive conduct may include, but are not limited to:
 - a. Temporary removal from class;
 - b. Alternative education program;
 - c. In-school suspension;
 - d. Out-of-school suspension;
 - e. Transfer;
 - f. Referral to outside agency;
 - g. Expulsion;
 - h. Restitution of property and damages, where appropriate, shall be sought by local school authorities;
 - i. Other sanctions as approved and communicated by local school authorities.

C. Criminal Conduct-Level III

- 1. Criminal conduct is defined as those activities engaged in by student(s) which result in violence to oneself or another's person or property or which pose a direct and serious threat to the safety of oneself or others in the school. When school officials have a reasonable belief that students have engaged in such actions, then these activities usually require administrative actions which result in the immediate removal of the student from the school, the intervention of the School Resource Officer or other law enforcement authorities, and/or action by the local school board. The provisions of this regulation apply not only to within-school activities, but also to student conduct on school bus transportation vehicles, and during other school-sponsored activities.
- 2. Acts of criminal conduct may include, but are not limited to:
 - a. Assault and battery that poses a serious threat of injury or results in physical harm;
 - b. Extortion:
 - c. Threat of the use of a destructive device (bomb, grenade, pipe bomb or other similar device);
 - d. Possession, use, or transfer of dangerous weapons;
 - e. Sexual offenses:
 - f. Vandalism (major);
 - g. Theft, possession, or sale of stolen property;
 - h. Arson;
 - i. Furnishing or selling unauthorized substances, as defined by law and/or local school board policy;
 - j. Furnishing, selling, or possession of controlled substances (drugs, narcotics, or poisons);
 - k. Illegal use of technology (e.g., communicating a threat of a destructive device, weapon, or event with the intent of intimidating, threatening, or interfering with school activities and maliciously transmitting sexual images of minors other than images of the student or images transmitted with the uncoerced consent of the individual in the images).
- 3. "Acts of criminal conduct," for purposes of defining Level III conduct, do not include acts that only amount to disturbing schools, breach of peace, disorderly conduct, or affray under South Carolina law.
- 4. The basic enforcement procedures to be followed in instances of criminal conduct are:

- a. Upon observation or notification and verification of a criminal offense, the administrator shall contact the School Resource Officer or local law enforcement authorities immediately.
- b. An administrator shall notify the student's parent or guardian as soon as possible.
- c. An administrator shall impose the appropriate disciplinary action. If warranted, the student shall be removed immediately from the school environment.
- d. Established due process procedures shall be followed when applicable.
- e. A complete record of the incident shall be maintained in accordance with district policy.
- 5. Possible sanctions to be applied in cases of criminal conduct may include, but are not limited to:
 - a. Out-of-school suspension;
 - b. Assignment to alternative schools;
 - c. Expulsion;
 - d. Restitution of property and damages, where appropriate, shall be sought by local school authorities:
 - e. Other sanctions as approved by local school authorities.
- D. Extenuating, Mitigating or Aggravating Circumstances
 - 1. A local school board may confer upon the appropriate administrator the authority to consider extenuating or mitigating circumstances which may exist in a particular case of misconduct, excluding criminal conduct. Such circumstances shall be considered in determining the most appropriate sanction to be used.
 - 2. A local school board may confer upon the appropriate administrator the authority to consider aggravating circumstances which may exist in a particular case of misconduct or criminal conduct. Such circumstances shall be considered in determining the most appropriate sanction to be used.
- V. Discipline of Students with Disabilities

For additional information regarding Disciplinary Procedures for students with disabilities, see Reg.43-243.

- VI. Other Areas of Student Conduct Which May Be Regulated by Local School Board Policy
 - A. Other areas of student conduct which are subject to regulation by local school boards include, but are not limited to:
 - 1. School attendance;
 - 2. Use of and access to public school property;
 - 3. Student dress and personal appearance;
 - 4. Speech and assembly within the public schools;
 - 5. Publications produced and/or distributed in the public schools;
 - 6. The existence, scope and conditions of availability of student privileges, including extracurricular activities and rules governing participation;
 - 7. Other activities not in conflict with existing state statutes or regulations as approved and communicated by the local school authorities.
 - B. Rules of student conduct are required by state and federal law to be reasonable exercises of the local school board's authority in pursuance of legitimate educational and related functions and shall not infringe upon students' constitutional rights.

Limitations or Conditions on Exclusionary Discipline

LAWS

59-17-135. Character education.

- (C) Beginning with the 2000-2001 school year, each school district board of trustees is encouraged to require students in the public schools under the jurisdiction of the board to exhibit appropriate conduct, as required in subsection (D) of this section.
- (D) When a public school student is speaking with a public school employee while on school property or at a school sponsored event, the student may be encouraged to address and respond to the public school employee by using terms indicative of or reflecting courtesy and respect for a public school's employees position of authority including, but not limited to, sir, ma'am, thank you, and please.
- (E) Each school district board of trustees is encouraged to provide for incorporation of the requirements of subsections (C) and (D) into any existing discipline policy or policies or any code of conduct of the school district or of each school within its jurisdiction.
- (F) No school board may provide suspension or expulsion from school as an appropriate punishment for violation of subsection (D).

59-63-210. Grounds for which trustees may expel, suspend or transfer pupils; petition for readmission; expulsion, suspension, or transfer.

- (A) Any district board of trustees may authorize or order the expulsion, suspension, or transfer of any pupil for the commission of any crime, gross immorality, gross misbehavior, persistent disobedience, or for violation of written rules and promulgated regulations established by the district board, county board, or the State Board of Education, or when the presence of the pupil is detrimental to the best interest of the school. Each expelled pupil has the right to petition for readmission for the succeeding school year. Expulsion or suspension must be construed to prohibit a pupil from entering the school or school grounds, except for a prearranged conference with an administrator, attending any day or night school functions, or riding a school bus. The provisions of this section do not preclude enrollment and attendance in any adult or night school.
- (B) A district board of trustees shall not authorize or order the expulsion, suspension, or transfer of any pupil for a violation of Section 59-150-250(B).

59-63-220. Suspension of pupils by administrator.

Any district board may confer upon any administrator the authority to suspend a pupil from a teacher's class or from the school not in excess of ten days for any one offense and for not more than thirty days in any one school year but no such administrator may suspend a pupil from school during the last ten days of a year if the suspension will make the pupil ineligible to receive credit for the school year without the approval of the school board unless the presence of the pupil constitutes an actual threat to a class or a school or a hearing is granted within twenty-four hours of the suspension.

59-63-1330. Discretion of school board.

Nothing in this article shall abrogate the authority of any public school district and its governing board to take such disciplinary action as it is otherwise empowered by law to take against any student for misconduct including, but not limited to, expulsion, and nothing in this chapter shall require that any student be assigned to such an alternative school. These decisions shall rest solely in the discretion of the district and school board, regardless of the offense, record of the child, or other information presented from any source.

REGULATIONS

43-279. Minimum standards of student conduct and disciplinary enforcement procedures to be implemented by local school districts.

I. Expectations for Student Conduct in South Carolina Public Schools

The mission of the SCDE is to provide leadership and support so that all public education students graduate prepared for success in citizenship, college, and careers as envisioned by the Profile of the South Carolina Graduate. Students in the public schools of South Carolina enjoy the same basic rights of United States citizenship as do other United States citizens. The rights of students are supported by the responsibility to insure that the rights of others are respected. This regulation is adopted with the intent to better assure that the opportunity to enjoy the benefits of public education is available to all those attending the public schools of the state of South Carolina.

II. Previously Adopted School District Discipline Policies

This regulation is established as a uniform system of minimum disciplinary enforcement for the school districts of South Carolina. School districts that previously have adopted discipline policies that are consistent with and contain the elements included in this regulation may retain their local policies as adopted.

III. Levels of Student Misconduct

- A. The levels of student misconduct considered in this regulation are arranged by degrees of seriousness. The levels are arranged from the least serious to the most serious.
- B. Three levels of student misconduct are identified: behavioral misconduct, disruptive conduct, and criminal conduct. The levels are defined in this regulation.
- C. This regulation includes a listing of possible consequences and/or sanctions for the three levels of student misconduct. As the levels increase in seriousness, the severity of possible disciplinary consequences and/or sanctions increases.
- D. Suggested consequences within the Level I misconduct category range from verbal reprimand to detention. Level II misconduct includes sanctions ranging from temporary removal from class to expulsion. Level III misconduct includes sanctions ranging from out-of-school suspension to appropriate action within the criminal justice system.
- E. A local school board, in its discretion, may authorize more stringent standards and consequences than those contained in this regulation.

IV. Minimum Standards

A. Behavioral Misconduct-Level I

- 1. Behavioral misconduct is defined as those activities engaged in by student(s) which tend to impede orderly classroom procedures or instructional activities, orderly operation of the school, or the frequency or seriousness of which disturb the classroom or school. The provisions of this regulation apply not only to within-school activities, but also to student conduct on school bus transportation vehicles, and during other school-sponsored activities.
- 2. Acts of behavioral misconduct shall include, but are not limited to:
 - a. Classroom tardiness;
 - b. Cheating on examinations or classroom assignments;
 - c. Lying;
 - d. Abusive language between or among students;
 - e. Failure to comply with directives from school/district personnel or agents (to include volunteer aides or chaperones);

- f. Use of forged notes or excuses;
- g. Cutting class;
- h. School tardiness;
- i. Truancy (three consecutive unlawful absences from school or a total of five unlawful absences);
- j. Possession of an electronic communication device (including, but not limited to, cell phones, tablets, computers, and iPods) inconsistent with school board policy. An electronic communication device is a device that emits an audible signal, vibrates, displays a message, image or otherwise summons or delivers a communication to the possessor;
- k. Other acts of behavioral misconduct as determined and communicated by local school authorities.
- 3. The basic enforcement procedures to be followed in instances of behavioral misconduct are:
 - a. Upon observation or notification and verification of acts of behavioral misconduct, the staff member shall take immediate action to rectify the misconduct. The staff member shall impose an appropriate consequence, and maintain a record of the misconduct and the consequence.
 - b. If, either in the opinion of the staff member or according to local school board policy, a certain misconduct is not immediately rectifiable, the problem shall be referred to the appropriate administrator for action specified by local school board policy.
 - c. The administrator shall meet with the reporting staff member, and, if necessary, the student and the parent or guardian, and impose the appropriate consequence and/or establish an intervention plan and/or behavioral contract.
 - d. A complete record of the procedures shall be maintained.
- 4. Possible consequences to be applied in cases of behavioral misconduct may include, but are not limited to:
 - a. Verbal reprimand;
 - b. Withdrawal of privileges;
 - c. Demerits:
 - d. Detention (silent lunch, after school, weekends, or another time that does not interfere with the instructional day);
 - e. Other consequences as approved and communicated by local school authorities.
- B. Disruptive Conduct-Level II
 - 1. Disruptive conduct is defined as those activities engaged in by student(s) which are directed against persons or property, and the consequences of which tend to endanger the health or safety of oneself or others in the school. Some instances of disruptive conduct may overlap certain criminal offenses, justifying both administrative sanctions and court proceedings. Behavioral misconduct (Level I) may be reclassified as disruptive conduct (Level II) if it occurs three or more times. The provisions of this regulation apply not only to within school activities, but also to student conduct on school bus transportation vehicles, and during other school-sponsored activities.
 - 2. Acts of disruptive conduct may include, but are not limited to:
 - a. Violation of a Level I intervention plan and/or behavioral contract;
 - b. Use of an intoxicant;
 - c. Fighting;
 - d. Vandalism (minor);
 - e. Stealing;

- f. Threats against others;
- g. Trespass;
- h. Abusive language to staff;
- i. Repeated refusal to comply with directives from school personnel or agents (such as volunteer aides or chaperones);
- j. Possession or use of unauthorized substances, as defined by law and/or local school board policy;
- k. Illegally occupying or blocking in any way school property with the intent to deprive others of its use;
- I. Unlawful assembly;
- m. Disrupting lawful assembly;
- n. Inappropriate use of technology (e.g., bullying, harassing, or intimidating other students or district employees, plagiarizing copyrighted materials, and accessing inappropriate websites);
- o. Other acts as determined and communicated by local school authorities.
- 3. The basic enforcement procedures to be followed in instances of disruptive conduct are:
 - a. Upon observation or notification and verification of an offense, the administrator shall investigate the circumstances of the misconduct and shall confer with staff on the extent of the consequences.
 - b. The administrator shall notify the parent or guardian of the student's misconduct and related proceedings. The administrator shall meet with the student and, if necessary, the parent or guardian, confer with them about the student's misconduct and impose the appropriate disciplinary action. Verification shall be defined as the following:
 - (1) self-admittance by the student
 - (2) witnessed involvement of the student by school administrators staff
 - (3) parental admission of student involvement
 - (4) evidence obtained through investigation by school administrators and staff
 - c. The administrator may refer the student to the appropriate intervention team to establish behavioral management strategies (e.g., restorative justice, counseling, service learning projects) and propose the appropriate disciplinary action.
 - d. The administrator or other school officials may refer Level II misconduct to the School Resource Officer or other local law enforcement authorities only when the conduct rises to a level of criminality, and the conduct presents an immediate safety risk to one or more people or it is the third or subsequent act which rises to a level of criminality in that school year.
 - e. A complete record of the procedures shall be maintained.
- 4. Possible sanctions to be applied in cases of disruptive conduct may include, but are not limited to:
 - a. Temporary removal from class;
 - b. Alternative education program;
 - c. In-school suspension;
 - d. Out-of-school suspension;
 - e. Transfer;
 - f. Referral to outside agency;
 - g. Expulsion;

- h. Restitution of property and damages, where appropriate, shall be sought by local school authorities;
- i. Other sanctions as approved and communicated by local school authorities.

C. Criminal Conduct-Level III

- 1. Criminal conduct is defined as those activities engaged in by student(s) which result in violence to oneself or another's person or property or which pose a direct and serious threat to the safety of oneself or others in the school. When school officials have a reasonable belief that students have engaged in such actions, then these activities usually require administrative actions which result in the immediate removal of the student from the school, the intervention of the School Resource Officer or other law enforcement authorities, and/or action by the local school board. The provisions of this regulation apply not only to within-school activities, but also to student conduct on school bus transportation vehicles, and during other school-sponsored activities.
- 2. Acts of criminal conduct may include, but are not limited to:
 - a. Assault and battery that poses a serious threat of injury or results in physical harm;
 - b. Extortion:
 - c. Threat of the use of a destructive device (bomb, grenade, pipe bomb or other similar device);
 - d. Possession, use, or transfer of dangerous weapons;
 - e. Sexual offenses;
 - f. Vandalism (major);
 - g. Theft, possession, or sale of stolen property;
 - h. Arson:
 - i. Furnishing or selling unauthorized substances, as defined by law and/or local school board policy;
 - j. Furnishing, selling, or possession of controlled substances (drugs, narcotics, or poisons);
 - k. Illegal use of technology (e.g., communicating a threat of a destructive device, weapon, or event with the intent of intimidating, threatening, or interfering with school activities and maliciously transmitting sexual images of minors other than images of the student or images transmitted with the uncoerced consent of the individual in the images).
- 3. "Acts of criminal conduct," for purposes of defining Level III conduct, do not include acts that only amount to disturbing schools, breach of peace, disorderly conduct, or affray under South Carolina law.
- 4. The basic enforcement procedures to be followed in instances of criminal conduct are:
 - a. Upon observation or notification and verification of a criminal offense, the administrator shall contact the School Resource Officer or local law enforcement authorities immediately.
 - b. An administrator shall notify the student's parent or guardian as soon as possible.
 - c. An administrator shall impose the appropriate disciplinary action. If warranted, the student shall be removed immediately from the school environment.
 - d. Established due process procedures shall be followed when applicable.
 - e. A complete record of the incident shall be maintained in accordance with district policy.
- 5. Possible sanctions to be applied in cases of criminal conduct may include, but are not limited to:
 - a. Out-of-school suspension;
 - b. Assignment to alternative schools;
 - c. Expulsion;

- d. Restitution of property and damages, where appropriate, shall be sought by local school authorities;
- e. Other sanctions as approved by local school authorities.
- D. Extenuating, Mitigating or Aggravating Circumstances
 - 1. A local school board may confer upon the appropriate administrator the authority to consider extenuating or mitigating circumstances which may exist in a particular case of misconduct, excluding criminal conduct. Such circumstances shall be considered in determining the most appropriate sanction to be used.
 - 2. A local school board may confer upon the appropriate administrator the authority to consider aggravating circumstances which may exist in a particular case of misconduct or criminal conduct. Such circumstances shall be considered in determining the most appropriate sanction to be used.
- V. Discipline of Students with Disabilities

For additional information regarding Disciplinary Procedures for students with disabilities, see Reg.43-243.

- VI. Other Areas of Student Conduct Which May Be Regulated by Local School Board Policy
 - A. Other areas of student conduct which are subject to regulation by local school boards include, but are not limited to:
 - 1. School attendance;
 - 2. Use of and access to public school property;
 - 3. Student dress and personal appearance;
 - 4. Speech and assembly within the public schools;
 - 5. Publications produced and/or distributed in the public schools;
 - 6. The existence, scope and conditions of availability of student privileges, including extracurricular activities and rules governing participation;
 - 7. Other activities not in conflict with existing state statutes or regulations as approved and communicated by the local school authorities.
 - B. Rules of student conduct are required by state and federal law to be reasonable exercises of the local school board's authority in pursuance of legitimate educational and related functions and shall not infringe upon students' constitutional rights.

Due Process

LAWS

59-63-210. Grounds for which trustees may expel, suspend or transfer pupils; petition for readmission; expulsion, suspension, or transfer.

(A) Any district board of trustees may authorize or order the expulsion, suspension, or transfer of any pupil for the commission of any crime, gross immorality, gross misbehavior, persistent disobedience, or for violation of written rules and promulgated regulations established by the district board, county board, or the State Board of Education, or when the presence of the pupil is detrimental to the best interest of the school. Each expelled pupil has the right to petition for readmission for the succeeding school year. Expulsion or suspension must be construed to prohibit a pupil from entering the school or school grounds, except for a prearranged conference with an administrator, attending any day or night school functions, or riding a school bus. The provisions of this section do not preclude enrollment and attendance in any adult or night school.

(B) A district board of trustees shall not authorize or order the expulsion, suspension, or transfer of any pupil for a violation of Section 59-150-250(B).

59-63-220. Suspension of pupils by administrator.

Any district board may confer upon any administrator the authority to suspend a pupil from a teacher's class or from the school not in excess of ten days for any one offense and for not more than thirty days in any one school year but no such administrator may suspend a pupil from school during the last ten days of a year if the suspension will make the pupil ineligible to receive credit for the school year without the approval of the school board unless the presence of the pupil constitutes an actual threat to a class or a school or a hearing is granted within twenty-four hours of the suspension.

59-63-230. Notices of suspensions; conferences with parents or guardian.

When a pupil is suspended from a class or a school, the administrator shall notify, in writing, the parents or legal guardian of the pupil, giving the reason for such suspension and setting a time and place when the administrator shall be available for a conference with the parents or guardian. The conference shall be set within three days of the date of the suspension. After the conference the parents or legal guardian may appeal the suspension to the board of trustees or to its authorized agent.

59-63-240. Expulsion for remainder of year; hearings.

The board may expel for the remainder of the school year a pupil for any of the reasons listed in § 59-63-210. If procedures for expulsion are initiated, the parents or legal guardian of the pupil shall be notified in writing of the time and the place of a hearing either before the board or a person or committee designated by the board. At the hearing the parents or legal guardian shall have the right to legal counsel and to all other regular legal rights including the right to question all witnesses. If the hearing is held by any authority other than the board of trustees, the right to appeal the decision to the board is reserved to either party. The hearing shall take place within fifteen days of the written notification at a time and place designated by the board and a decision shall be rendered within ten days of the hearing. The pupil may be suspended from school and all school activities during the time of the expulsion procedures. The action of the board may be appealed to the proper court. The board may permanently expel any incorrigible pupil.

59-63-250. Transfer of pupils.

The board or a designated administrator may transfer a pupil to another school in lieu of suspension or expulsion but only after a conference or hearing with the parents or legal guardian. The parents or legal guardian may appeal a transfer made by an administrator to the board.

59-65-60. Procedure upon receipt by court of report of nonattendance.

- (a) Upon receipt of such report, the court may forthwith order the appearance before such court of the responsible parent or guardian and if it deems necessary, the minor involved, for such action as the court may deem necessary to carry out the provisions of this article.
- (b) The court may, after hearing upon ten days notice, order such parent or guardian to require such child to attend school and upon failure of such parent to comply with such order may punish such parent or guardian as by contempt, provided, that punishment for such contempt cannot exceed fifty dollars or thirty days imprisonment for each offense.

The procedure herein provided shall be alternative to the penalties provided in § 59-65-20.

REGULATIONS

43-279. Minimum standards of student conduct and disciplinary enforcement procedures to be implemented by local school districts.

- IV. Minimum Standards
 - B. Disruptive Conduct-Level II
 - 3. The basic enforcement procedures to be followed in instances of disruptive conduct are:
 - b. The administrator shall notify the parent or guardian of the student's misconduct and related proceedings. The administrator shall meet with the student and, if necessary, the parent or guardian, confer with them about the student's misconduct and impose the appropriate disciplinary action. Verification shall be defined as the following:
 - (1) self-admittance by the student
 - (2) witnessed involvement of the student by school administrators staff
 - (3) parental admission of student involvement
 - (4) evidence obtained through investigation by school administrators and staff. [...]
 - C. Criminal Conduct-Level III
 - 4. The basic enforcement procedures to be followed in instances of criminal conduct are:
 - d. Established due process procedures shall be followed when applicable.

Return to School Following Removal

LAWS

59-63-210. Grounds for which trustees may expel, suspend or transfer pupils; petition for readmission; expulsion, suspension, or transfer.

- (A) Any district board of trustees may authorize or order the expulsion, suspension, or transfer of any pupil for the commission of any crime, gross immorality, gross misbehavior, persistent disobedience, or for violation of written rules and promulgated regulations established by the district board, county board, or the State Board of Education, or when the presence of the pupil is detrimental to the best interest of the school. Each expelled pupil has the right to petition for readmission for the succeeding school year. Expulsion or suspension must be construed to prohibit a pupil from entering the school or school grounds, except for a prearranged conference with an administrator, attending any day or night school functions, or riding a school bus. The provisions of this section do not preclude enrollment and attendance in any adult or night school.
- (B) A district board of trustees shall not authorize or order the expulsion, suspension, or transfer of any pupil for a violation of Section 59-150-250(B).

59-63-217. Barring enrollment of student; grounds; notice and hearing; duration of bar.

(A) In determining whether or not a student meets the standards of conduct and behavior promulgated by the board of trustees necessary for first time enrollment and attendance in a school in the district, the board shall consider nonschool records, the student's disciplinary records in any school in which the student was previously enrolled as these records relate to the adjudication of delinquency in any jurisdiction, within or without this State, of violations or activities which constitute violent crimes under Section 16-1-60, adjudications for assault and battery of a high and aggravated nature, the unlawful use or possession of weapons, or the unlawful sale of drugs whether or not considered to be drug trafficking.

Based on this consideration of the student's record, the board may bar his enrollment in the schools of the district.

- (B) If the board bars a student from enrolling pursuant to this section, notice must be provided to the student's parent or legal guardian and the student is entitled to a hearing and all other procedural rights afforded under state law to a student subject to expulsion.
- (C) The bar to enrollment allowed by this section applies for a maximum of one year. After the bar is lifted, a student may reapply for enrollment and the board shall order the student enrolled if he otherwise meets enrollment criteria.

REGULATIONS

No relevant regulations found.

Alternative Placements

LAWS

59-63-235. Expulsion of student determined to have brought firearm to school.

The district board must expel for no less than one year a student who is determined to have brought a firearm to a school or any setting under the jurisdiction of a local board of trustees. The expulsion must follow the procedures established pursuant to Section 59-63-240. The one-year expulsion is subject to modification by the district superintendent of education on a case-by-case basis. Students expelled pursuant to this section are not precluded from receiving educational services in an alternative setting. Each local board of trustees is to establish a policy which requires the student to be referred to the local county office of the Department of Juvenile Justice or its representative.

59-63-1300. Alternative school programs established.

The General Assembly finds that a child who does not complete his education is greatly limited in obtaining employment, achieving his full potential, and becoming a productive member of society. It is, therefore, the intent of this article to encourage district school boards throughout the State to establish alternative school programs. These programs shall be designed to provide appropriate services to students who for behavioral or academic reasons are not benefiting from the regular school program or may be interfering with the learning of others. It is further the intent of this article that cooperative agreements may be developed among school districts in order to implement innovative exemplary programs.

59-63-1310. Individual or cooperative programs; funding; sites.

School districts which choose to establish, maintain, and operate, either individually or as a cooperative agreement among districts, alternative school programs shall be eligible for funding provided by the General Assembly for this purpose. The program must be operated at a site separate from other schools unless operated at a time when those schools are not in session or in another building on campus which would provide complete separation from other students. However, an existing alternative school program located in a defined area within a building which provides complete separation from other students and which otherwise meets the criteria established herein may continue at this site if the location is approved by the Department of Education. Provided, that a school district or consortium may apply for a waiver to the site requirement for a new program if it demonstrates to the satisfaction of the State Department of Education that no separate site is available and the cost of temporary classroom space cannot be justified, then the alternative school program may be established in a defined area within a building which provides complete separation from other students if the location is approved by the Department of

Education. This waiver may be granted for a period of two years. In order for the district or consortium to reapply for a waiver, they must outline efforts made to acquire a separate facility.

59-63-1320. Referral or placement of students in alternative school programs.

Eligible alternative school programs shall be provided for, but not limited to, students in grades 6-12 as follows:

- (1) Students referred for voluntary attendance at the alternative school program and meeting the district criteria to attend based upon a documented need for the attention and assistance beyond that of a traditional program as established by the academic history of the student, including the student's academic plan as required in Section 59-18-500, and following other policies and procedures for documenting need established by the district board of trustees.
- (2) Students referred for voluntary attendance at the alternative school program and meeting the district criteria to attend based upon a documented need for the program due to habitual exhibitions of disruptive behavior in violation of the student conduct policies and behavior codes approved by the school board of trustees.

Districts must establish clear guidelines and procedures for the referral of any student into an alternative school program and before a decision is made to assign a student to an alternative school program, a determination must be made that the written and distributed academic and disciplinary policies of the district have been followed.

(3) Students placed in an alternative school program by the district board of trustees as an option to suspension or expulsion or by the dispositive order of a family court judge, with the consent of the local board of trustees. However, before a student may be placed in an alternative school program, a determination must be made by the local board that the written and distributed disciplinary policy of the district has been followed. Districts must establish clear guidelines and procedures for the placement of any student into an alternative school program and at a minimum they shall prescribe due process procedures for placement actions.

When students are being considered for placement in an alternative school program, districts must consider the requirements of the Federal Individuals with Disabilities Education Act (IDEA).

If a student placed by the board of trustees in an alternative school program enrolls in another school district before the expiration of the period of placement, the board of trustees of the district requiring the placement shall provide to the district in which the student enrolls, at the same time other records of the student are provided, information concerning the student's placement in an alternative school program. Upon review of the information, the district in which the student enrolls may continue an alternative education program placement or may allow the student to attend regular classes without completing the period of the placement.

59-63-1330. Discretion of school board.

Nothing in this article shall abrogate the authority of any public school district and its governing board to take such disciplinary action as it is otherwise empowered by law to take against any student for misconduct including, but not limited to, expulsion, and nothing in this chapter shall require that any student be assigned to such an alternative school. These decisions shall rest solely in the discretion of the district and school board, regardless of the offense, record of the child, or other information presented from any source.

59-63-1340. Permissible divergence from traditional programs and schools.

Within the requirements of Section 59-1-440, alternative school programs may differ from traditional education programs and schools in scheduling, administrative structure, curriculum, or setting and state

requirements may be waived in these areas if such waiver assists the alternative school in meeting its purpose.

59-63-1350. Eligibility for funding.

To be eligible for funding, a district or consortium must submit a plan for the program which includes:

- (a) mission statement;
- (b) the policy for the basis of enrollment in the school;
- (c) location of the alternative school program; and
- (d) description of how the school will focus on the educational and behavioral needs of the students. This description must include strategies for individual student instruction plans, evaluations at regular intervals of the student's educational and behavioral progress, instructional methods in meeting academic achievement standards in the core academic areas, provisions for a low pupil-teacher ratio, utilization of available technology, strict codes of student conduct, counseling, strategies to gain strong parental input and support, strategies to ensure students will adapt to a regular school setting upon departure from the alternative school program, and student time lines for meeting the academic and conduct standards set. The alternative program may be provided in conjunction with the adult education program, where appropriate. Goals, interim goals, and data collection for program evaluation must be a part of the program plan.

The instructional program should enable students to make the transition to a regular school program, earn a high school diploma or GED, or seek postsecondary education. Steps should be taken to ensure that credit earned by students participating in the alternative school program can be transferred to other public schools in the State; provided, nothing herein shall prohibit school districts and/or the South Carolina Department of Education from establishing and providing new and innovative programs as may be authorized otherwise under law to meet the unique needs of alternative school students who otherwise might drop out of school or never be able successfully to complete the requirements for a diploma.

59-63-1380. Funding for alternative school programs.

A school district shall allocate to an alternative school program the same per student expenditure to include federal, state, and local funds that would be allocated to the student's school if the student were attending the student's regularly assigned school. This shall include any appropriate special education funding.

Districts or consortia meeting the eligibility requirements for alternative school funding shall receive an annual base funding minimum of \$30,000 or up to \$200,000 depending on the student population of the district; however, districts forming consortia will have as their base funding an amount equal to the total of the individual district's base funding, not to exceed \$350,000. The State Department of Education, for the purposes of establishing base funding, shall group districts according to their average daily membership and assign the amount of base funding that districts in a grouping would receive for eligible programs. Unobligated funds from state appropriations for base funding which become available during a fiscal year may be redistributed on a per pupil basis to eligible programs in countywide districts receiving base funding of less than \$100,000; however, this redistributed funding shall not become part of the base funding for the following year. Increases in fiscal year 2000-2001 funding over the fiscal year 1999-2000 recurring and nonrecurring funding shall be used to increase countywide districts' base funding by fifty percent and this new amount shall constitute their base funding.

It is the intent of the General Assembly that, after meeting the funding requirements for base funding, eligible programs, beginning with school year 2000-2001, shall also receive per pupil funding based on the average daily membership of the students served by the program at an Education Finance Act weighting of 1.49 and beginning with school year 2001-2002 a weighting of 1.74. Per pupil funds for the

alternative school program shall be distributed through the Education Finance Act formula provided for in Section 59-20-40. Beginning with school year 2002-2003, every district or district consortium shall provide alternative school opportunities for their students in grades 6-12, provided that state funding for alternative school programs is not reduced below the appropriation received in fiscal year 2001-2002.

These funds shall be used for the establishment, maintenance, and operation of alternative schools programs. Funds also may be used to provide for staff development needs pursuant to Section 59-63-1370.

Districts or consortia developing plans for the establishment of an alternative school shall be eligible for a planning grant of no more than \$5,000 if criteria established by the State Board of Education are met.

59-63-1390. Regulations; annual review.

The State Board of Education shall promulgate regulations for establishment, maintenance, and operation of alternative school programs to include clear procedures for annual review of the implementation and progress of the alternative school program and a three-year cycle evaluation shall examine the success of this initiative. If an annual review or the evaluation finds a program is not making progress to carry out the alternative school plan or meeting the locally established measures of success, the Department of Education shall provide technical assistance and future funding may be terminated.

59-63-1400. Review; technical assistance.

The State Department of Education shall review alternative school plans for eligibility for funding and provide technical assistance for planning, establishing, and implementing an alternative school based on best practice. The department shall assist any district or consortia whose plan does not meet the eligibility criteria; however, no funding will be approved until the plan ensures implementation of appropriate services for students served by the alternative school.

<u>REGULATIONS</u>

43-279. Minimum standards of student conduct and disciplinary enforcement procedures to be implemented by local school districts.

- IV. Minimum Standards
 - B. Disruptive Conduct-Level II
 - 4. Possible sanctions to be applied in cases of disruptive conduct may include, but are not limited to:
 - b. Alternative education program [...]
 - C. Criminal Conduct-Level III
 - 5. Possible sanctions to be applied in cases of criminal conduct may include, but are not limited to:
 - b. Assignment to alternative schools

Discipline Addressing Specific Code of Conduct Violations

Firearms and Other Weapons Violations

LAWS

59-63-235. Expulsion of student determined to have brought firearm to school.

The district board must expel for no less than one year a student who is determined to have brought a firearm to a school or any setting under the jurisdiction of a local board of trustees. The expulsion must follow the procedures established pursuant to Section 59-63-240. The one-year expulsion is subject to modification by the district superintendent of education on a case-by-case basis. Students expelled pursuant to this section are not precluded from receiving educational services in an alternative setting. Each local board of trustees is to establish a policy which requires the student to be referred to the local county office of the Department of Juvenile Justice or its representative.

REGULATIONS

43-279. Minimum standards of student conduct and disciplinary enforcement procedures to be implemented by local school districts.

- IV. Minimum Standards
 - C. Criminal Conduct-Level III
 - 2. Acts of criminal conduct may include, but are not limited to:
 - d. Possession, use, or transfer of dangerous weapons.

Students with Chronic Disciplinary Issues

LAWS

No relevant laws found.

REGULATIONS

43-279. Minimum standards of student conduct and disciplinary enforcement procedures to be implemented by local school districts.

- III. Levels of Student Misconduct
 - A. The levels of student misconduct considered in this regulation are arranged by degrees of seriousness. The levels are arranged from the least serious to the most serious.
 - B. Three levels of student misconduct are identified: behavioral misconduct, disruptive conduct, and criminal conduct. The levels are defined in this regulation.
 - C. This regulation includes a listing of possible consequences and/or sanctions for the three levels of student misconduct. As the levels increase in seriousness, the severity of possible disciplinary consequences and/or sanctions increases.
 - D. Suggested consequences within the Level I misconduct category range from verbal reprimand to detention. Level II misconduct includes sanctions ranging from temporary removal from class to expulsion. Level III misconduct includes sanctions ranging from out-of-school suspension to appropriate action within the criminal justice system.

E. A local school board, in its discretion, may authorize more stringent standards and consequences than those contained in this regulation. [...]

IV. Minimum Standards

- B. Disruptive Conduct-Level II
 - 1. Disruptive conduct is defined as those activities engaged in by student(s) which are directed against persons or property, and the consequences of which tend to endanger the health or safety of oneself or others in the school. Some instances of disruptive conduct may overlap certain criminal offenses, justifying both administrative sanctions and court proceedings. Behavioral misconduct (Level I) may be reclassified as disruptive conduct (Level II) if it occurs three or more times. The provisions of this regulation apply not only to within school activities, but also to student conduct on school bus transportation vehicles, and during other school-sponsored activities.
 - 2. Acts of disruptive conduct may include, but are not limited to:
 - a. Violation of a Level I intervention plan and/or behavioral contract;
 - b. Use of an intoxicant:
 - c. Fighting;
 - d. Vandalism (minor);
 - e. Stealing;
 - f. Threats against others;
 - g. Trespass;
 - h. Abusive language to staff;
 - i. Repeated refusal to comply with directives from school personnel or agents (such as volunteer aides or chaperones);
 - j. Possession or use of unauthorized substances, as defined by law and/or local school board policy;
 - k. Illegally occupying or blocking in any way school property with the intent to deprive others of its use;
 - I. Unlawful assembly;
 - m. Disrupting lawful assembly;
 - n. Inappropriate use of technology (e.g., bullying, harassing, or intimidating other students or district employees, plagiarizing copyrighted materials, and accessing inappropriate websites);
 - o. Other acts as determined and communicated by local school authorities.
 - 3. The basic enforcement procedures to be followed in instances of disruptive conduct are:
 - a. Upon observation or notification and verification of an offense, the administrator shall investigate the circumstances of the misconduct and shall confer with staff on the extent of the consequences.
 - b. The administrator shall notify the parent or guardian of the student's misconduct and related proceedings. The administrator shall meet with the student and, if necessary, the parent or guardian, confer with them about the student's misconduct and impose the appropriate disciplinary action. Verification shall be defined as the following:
 - (1) self-admittance by the student
 - (2) witnessed involvement of the student by school administrators staff
 - (3) parental admission of student involvement
 - (4) evidence obtained through investigation by school administrators and staff

- c. The administrator may refer the student to the appropriate intervention team to establish behavioral management strategies (e.g., restorative justice, counseling, service learning projects) and propose the appropriate disciplinary action.
- d. The administrator or other school officials may refer Level II misconduct to the School Resource Officer or other local law enforcement authorities only when the conduct rises to a level of criminality, and the conduct presents an immediate safety risk to one or more people or it is the third or subsequent act which rises to a level of criminality in that school year.
- e. A complete record of the procedures shall be maintained.
- 4. Possible sanctions to be applied in cases of disruptive conduct may include, but are not limited to:
 - a. Temporary removal from class;
 - b. Alternative education program;
 - c. In-school suspension;
 - d. Out-of-school suspension;
 - e. Transfer;
 - f. Referral to outside agency;
 - g. Expulsion;
 - h. Restitution of property and damages, where appropriate, shall be sought by local school authorities:
 - i. Other sanctions as approved and communicated by local school authorities.

Chronic Absenteeism and Truancy

LAWS

59-5-65. Powers and responsibilities of State Board of Education.

The State Board of Education shall have the power and responsibility to:

(4) Establish on or before July 1, 1985, regulations prescribing a uniform system of enforcement by the various school districts of the state compulsory attendance laws and regulations promulgated pursuant to § 59-65-90.

59-65-50. Nonattendance reported to court having jurisdiction of juveniles.

If the board of trustees of a school district or its designee is unable to obtain the school attendance of a child in the age group specified in § 59-65-10, the board or its designee shall report such nonattendance in writing to the juvenile court or such other court in the county as may have jurisdiction of juveniles but exclusive of magistrate's courts notwithstanding the provisions of § 22-3-540; provided, that no one except the board of trustees or its designee shall have the authority to institute the proceedings herein.

59-65-60. Procedure upon receipt by court of report of nonattendance.

- (a) Upon receipt of such report, the court may forthwith order the appearance before such court of the responsible parent or guardian and if it deems necessary, the minor involved, for such action as the court may deem necessary to carry out the provisions of this article.
- (b) The court may, after hearing upon ten days notice, order such parent or guardian to require such child to attend school and upon failure of such parent to comply with such order may punish such parent or guardian as by contempt, provided, that punishment for such contempt cannot exceed fifty dollars or thirty days imprisonment for each offense.

The procedure herein provided shall be alternative to the penalties provided in § 59-65-20.

59-65-70. Court empowered to declare child delinquent.

If the court determines that the reported absence occurred without the knowledge, consent or connivance of the responsible parent or guardian or that a bona fide attempt has been made to control and keep the child in school, the court may declare such child to be a delinquent and subject to the provisions of law in such cases.

59-65-80. Enrollment or attendance of expelled or suspended child not authorized.

Nothing herein shall be construed as granting authority to require enrollment or attendance of a child who has been or may be expelled or suspended by the board of trustees of the district or any other person acting with authority from the board of trustees.

59-65-90. Rules and regulations.

The State Board of Education shall establish regulations defining lawful and unlawful absences beyond those specifically named in this article and additional regulations as are necessary for the orderly enrollment of pupils so as to provide for uniform dates of entrance. These regulations shall require: (1) that school officials shall immediately intervene to encourage the student's future attendance when the student has three consecutive unlawful absences or a total of five unlawful absences and (2) that the district board of trustees or its designee shall promptly approve or disapprove any student absence in excess of ten days. As used in this section, "intervene" means to identify the reasons for the child's continued absence and to develop a plan in conjunction with the student and his parent or guardian to improve his future attendance.

Provided, However, That nothing within this section shall interfere with the Board's authority to at any time refer a child to a truancy prevention program or to the court pursuant to § 59-65-50.

59-65-260. Duties of attendance supervisor relating to nonattending children.

The attendance supervisor shall, upon receiving the list of nonattending children from the county superintendent of education, contact as rapidly as possible the parents or guardians of such nonattending children with the object in mind of interesting nonattending children in school work, and influencing them by means of persuasion to attend school regularly. All principals shall report to such attendance supervisor on continuous absences which appear to be unwarranted, and the attendance supervisor shall make an earnest effort to have enrolled and keep enrolled all children of school age in the county.

REGULATIONS

43-274. Student attendance.

I. Lawful and Unlawful Absences

School districts must adopt policies to define and list lawful and unlawful absences.

- (A) Lawful absences include but are not limited to
 - (1) absences caused by a student's own illness and whose attendance in school would endanger his or her health or the health of others,
 - (2) absences due to an illness or death in the student's immediate family,
 - (3) absences due to a recognized religious holiday of the student's faith, and
 - (4) absences due to activities that are approved in advance by the principal.
- (B) Unlawful absences include but are not limited to
 - (1) absences of a student without the knowledge of his or her parents, or

- (2) absences of a student without acceptable cause with the knowledge of his or her parents.
- (C) Suspension is not to be counted as an unlawful absence for truancy purposes.

II. Truancy

The State Board of Education recognizes that truancy is primarily an educational issue and that all reasonable, educationally sound, corrective actions should be undertaken by the school district prior to resorting to the juvenile justice system.

(A) Truant

A child ages 6 to 17 years meets the definition of a truant when the child has three consecutive unlawful absences or a total of five unlawful absences.

(B) Habitual Truant

A "habitual" truant is a child age 12 to 17 years who fails to comply with the intervention plan developed by the school, the child, and the parent(s) or guardian(s) and who accumulates two or more additional unlawful absences. This child may need court intervention and an initial truancy petition may be filed.

The written intervention plan, and documentation of non-compliance, must be attached to the truancy petition asking for court intervention.

(C) Chronic Truant

A "chronic" truant is a child ages 12 to 17 years who has been through the school intervention process, has reached the level of a "habitual" truant, has been referred to Family Court and placed on an order to attend school, and continues to accumulate unlawful absences. Should other community alternatives and referrals fail to remedy the attendance problem, the "chronic" truant may be referred to the Family Court for violation of a previous court order. All school intervention plans existing to this point for this child and family must accompany the Contempt of Court petition as well as a written recommendation from the school to the court on action the court should take.

III. Intervention Plans

- (A) Each district must develop a policy relating to requirements for intervention. The district plan for improving students' attendance must be in accordance with any applicable statutes.
- (B) Once a child is determined to be truant as defined in Section II(A), school officials must make every reasonable effort to meet with the parent(s) or guardian(s) to identify the reasons for the student's continued absence. These efforts should include telephone calls and home visits, both during and after normal business hours, as well as written messages and e-mails. School officials must develop a written "intervention plan" to address the student's continued absence in conjunction with the student and parent(s) or guardian(s).
- (C) The intervention plan must include but is not limited to
 - (1) Designation of a person to lead the intervention team. The team leader may be someone from another agency.
 - (2) Reasons for the unlawful absences.
 - (3) Actions to be taken by the parent(s) or guardian(s) and student to resolve the causes of the unlawful absences.
 - (4) Documentation of referrals to appropriate service providers and, if available, alternative school and community-based programs.
 - (5) Actions to be taken by intervention team members.
 - (6) Actions to be taken in the event unlawful absences continue.
 - (7) Signature of the parent(s) or guardian(s) or evidence that attempts were made to involve the parents(s) or guardian(s).

- (8) Documentation of involvement of team members.
- (9) Guidelines for making revisions to the plan.
- (D) School officials may utilize a team intervention approach. Team members may include representatives from social services, community mental health, substance abuse, and prevention, and other persons the district deems appropriate to formulate the written intervention plans.

IV. Referrals and Judicial Intervention

At no time should a child ages 6 to 17 years be referred to the Family Court to be placed on an order to attend school prior to the written intervention planning being completed with the parent(s) or guardian(s) by the school. A consent order must not be used as an intervention plan from any local school or school district. Should the parent(s) or guardian(s) refuse to cooperate with the intervention planning to remedy the attendance problem, the school district has the authority to refer the student to Family Court in accordance with S.C. Code Ann. Section 59-65-50 (2004), and a report shall be filed against the parent(s) or guardian(s) with the Department of Social Services in compliance with S.C. Code Ann. Section 20-7- 490(2)(c)(Supp. 2002).

(A) Petition for a School Attendance Order

If the intervention plan is not successful and further inquiry by school officials fails to cause the truant student and/or parent(s) or guardian(s) to comply with the written intervention plan or if the student and/or parent(s) or guardian(s) refuses to participate in intervention and the student accumulates two or more additional unlawful absences, the student is considered an "habitual" truant. Each referral must include a copy of the plan and specify any corrective action regarding the student and/or the parent(s) or guardian(s) that the district recommends that the court adopt as well as any other available programs or alternatives identified by the school district. The intervention plan must be attached to the petition to the Family Court and served on the student and the parent(s) or guardian(s).

(B) Petition for Contempt of Court

Once a school attendance order has been issued by the Family Court and the student continues to accumulate unlawful absences, the student is considered to be a "chronic" truant and school officials may refer the case back to Family Court. The school and district must exhaust all reasonable alternatives prior to petitioning the Family Court to hold the student and/or the parent(s) or guardian(s) in contempt of court. Any petition for contempt of court must include a written report indicating the corrective actions that were attempted by the school district and what graduated sanctions or alternatives to incarceration are available to the court in the community. The school district must include in the written report its recommendation to the court should the student and/or parent(s) or guardian(s) be found in contempt of court.

V. Coordination with the South Carolina Department of Juvenile Justice

Each school district should coordinate with the local office of the South Carolina Department of Juvenile Justice to establish a system of graduated sanctions and alternatives to incarceration in truancy cases.

VI. Transfer of Plans

If a student transfers to another public school in South Carolina, intervention plans shall be forwarded to the receiving school. School officials will contact the parent(s) or guardian(s) and local team members to review the plan and revise as appropriate. Court ordered plans may be amended through application to the court.

VII. Approval of Absences in Excess of Ten Days and Approval of Credit

(A) Approval or Disapproval of Absences

The district board of trustees, or its designee, shall approve or disapprove any student's absence in excess of ten days, whether lawful, unlawful, or a combination thereof, for students in grades K-12. For

the purpose of awarding credit for the year, school districts must approve or disapprove absences in excess of ten days regardless as to whether those absences are lawful, unlawful, or a combination of the two.

(B) High School Credit

In order to receive one Carnegie unit of credit, a student must be in attendance at least 120 hours, per unit, regardless of the number of days missed, or must demonstrate proficiency as determined by the local school district. This exception to the 120-hour requirement is to be administered by local school districts on a case-by-case basis and only for students who have excessive absences that have been approved by the local school board. General request for proficiency-based credit must be made through the process described in Regulation 43-234. Students whose absences are approved should be allowed to make up any work missed in order to satisfy this requirement. Local school boards should develop policies governing student absences giving appropriate consideration to unique situations that may arise within their districts when students do not meet the minimum attendance requirements.

Therefore, districts should allow students, whose excessive absences are approved in part 1 of this section, to make-up work missed to satisfy this requirement.

Examples of make-up work may include

- (1) after-school and/or weekend make-up programs that address both time and academic requirements of the course(s), or
- (2) extended-year programs that address both time and academic requirements of the course(s). All make-up time and work must be completed within thirty days from the last day of the course(s). The district board of trustees or its designee may extend the time for student's completion of the requirements due to extenuating circumstances that include but are not limited to the student's medical condition, family emergencies, and other student academic requirements that are considered to be a maximum load. Make-up requirements that extend beyond thirty days due to extenuating circumstances must be completed prior to the beginning of the subsequent new year.

VIII. Reporting Requirements

The South Carolina Department of Education will develop and implement a standard reporting system for the adequate collection and reporting of truancy rates on a school-by-school basis.

IX. Guidelines

Additional information relating to the implementation of this regulation will be contained in South Carolina Department of Education Guidelines. The South Carolina Department of Education will review and update these guidelines as needed.

43-279. Minimum standards of student conduct and disciplinary enforcement procedures to be implemented by local school districts.

IV. Minimum Standards

- A. Behavioral Misconduct-Level I
 - 2. Acts of behavioral misconduct shall include, but are not limited to:
 - a. Classroom tardiness:
 - h. School tardiness;
 - i. Truancy (three consecutive unlawful absences from school or a total of five unlawful absences); [...]
- VI. Other Areas of Student Conduct Which May Be Regulated by Local School Board Policy

A. Other areas of student conduct which are subject to regulation by local school boards include, but are not limited to:

1. School attendance.

Substance Use

LAWS

44-49-80. Establishment of drug abuse treatment program.

The department shall establish a program to provide alcohol and drug abuse intervention, prevention, and treatment services for the public schools of the State. The department shall provide staff and support necessary to administer the program. Funds for this program must be annually appropriated by the General Assembly from the Education Improvement Act of 1984 Fund as it determines appropriate. The appropriated funds must be forwarded to the South Carolina Department of Alcohol and Other Drug Abuse Services from the Education Improvement Act of 1984 Fund in the manner the State Treasurer shall direct.

44-128-20. Youth Smoking Prevention Plan.

- (A) The Department of Health and Environmental Control shall develop and implement a Youth Smoking Prevention Plan for the purpose of preventing and reducing cigarette smoking by minors.
- (B) The Youth Smoking Prevention Plan must address prevention, cessation, and control of smoking by minors and may include but is not limited to:
 - (2) school based youth programs.

59-1-380. Mandatory tobacco and alternative nicotine product-free local school board policy.

- (A) By August 1, 2019, every local school district in the State shall adopt, implement, and enforce a written policy prohibiting at all times the use of any tobacco product or alternative nicotine product by any person in school buildings, in school facilities, on school campuses, and in or on any other school property owned or operated by the local school administrative unit. The policy also must prohibit the use of any tobacco product or alternative nicotine product by persons attending a school-sponsored event at a location not listed in this subsection when in the presence of students or school personnel or in an area where smoking or other tobacco use is otherwise prohibited by law.
- (B) The policy must include at least all of the following elements:
 - (1) adequate notice to students, parents or guardians, the public, and school personnel of the policy;
 - (2) posting of signs prohibiting at all times the use of tobacco products or alternative nicotine products by any person in and on school property; and
 - (3) requirements that school personnel enforce the policy, including appropriate disciplinary action.
- (C) Disciplinary actions for violating the policy may include, but not be limited to:
 - (1) for students: administrator and parent or legal guardian conference, mandatory enrollment in tobacco prevention education or cessation programs, community service, in-school suspension, suspension for extracurricular activities, or out-of-school suspension;
 - (2) for staff: verbal reprimand, written notification in personnel file, mandatory enrollment in tobacco prevention education, voluntary enrollment in cessation programs, or suspension;
 - (3) for contract or other workers: verbal reprimand, notification to contract employer, or removal from district property; and
 - (4) for visitors: verbal request to leave district property or prosecution for disorderly conduct for repeated offenses.

- (D) The local school district shall collaborate with the Department of Health and Environmental Control, the Department of Alcohol and Other Drug Abuse Services, and the South Carolina Department of Education, as appropriate, to implement the policy, including as part of tobacco education and cessation programs and substance use prevention efforts.
- (E) The policy may permit tobacco products or alternative nicotine products to be included in instructional or research activities in public school buildings if the activity is conducted or supervised by the faculty member overseeing the instruction or research and the activity does not include smoking, chewing, inhaling, or otherwise ingesting the tobacco product or alternative nicotine product.
- (F) For purposes of this section:
 - (1) 'Tobacco product' has the same meaning as defined in Section 16-17-501.
 - (2) 'Alternative nicotine product' has the same meaning as defined in Section 16-17-501.

REGULATIONS

43-279. Minimum standards of student conduct and disciplinary enforcement procedures to be implemented by local school districts.

- IV. Minimum Standards
 - B. Disruptive Conduct-Level II
 - 1. Disruptive conduct is defined as those activities engaged in by student(s) which are directed against persons or property, and the consequences of which tend to endanger the health or safety of oneself or others in the school. Some instances of disruptive conduct may overlap certain criminal offenses, justifying both administrative sanctions and court proceedings. Behavioral misconduct (Level I) may be reclassified as disruptive conduct (Level II) if it occurs three or more times. The provisions of this regulation apply not only to within school activities, but also to student conduct on school bus transportation vehicles, and during other school-sponsored activities.
 - 2. Acts of disruptive conduct may include, but are not limited to:
 - j. Possession or use of unauthorized substances, as defined by law and/or local school board policy. [...]
 - C. Criminal Conduct-Level III
 - 1. Criminal conduct is defined as those activities engaged in by student(s) which result in violence to oneself or another's person or property or which pose a direct and serious threat to the safety of oneself or others in the school. When school officials have a reasonable belief that students have engaged in such actions, then these activities usually require administrative actions which result in the immediate removal of the student from the school, the intervention of the School Resource Officer or other law enforcement authorities, and/or action by the local school board. The provisions of this regulation apply not only to within-school activities, but also to student conduct on school bus transportation vehicles, and during other school-sponsored activities.
 - 2. Acts of criminal conduct may include, but are not limited to:
 - i. Furnishing or selling unauthorized substances, as defined by law and/or local school board policy;
 - j. Furnishing, selling, or possession of controlled substances (drugs, narcotics, or poisons).

Gang-related Activity

LAWS

16-8-340. Community anti-gang matching grants program.

There is established in the appropriate office of the Department of Administration a Community Safety Anti-Gang Matching Grants program to provide funding for local programs to prevent youth idleness and intervene with at-risk youth. These grants may be awarded to counties and municipalities upon application for after school programs, summer youth employment programs, and police and sheriff antigang task forces. Grants must be awarded on a two-for-one matching basis with the local match component consisting of cash. Grant applications must be reviewed and rated by the Governor's Committee on Criminal Justice, Crime, and Delinquency, but responsibility for the award of grants is solely with the board. Funding for these grants must be in the amount as the General Assembly shall provide by law.

REGULATIONS

No relevant regulations found.

Bullying, Harassment, or Hazing

LAWS

59-63-110. Citation of article.

This article may be cited as the "Safe School Climate Act".

59-63-120. Definitions.

As used in this article:

- (1) "Harassment, intimidation, or bullying" means a gesture, an electronic communication, or a written, verbal, physical, or sexual act that is reasonably perceived to have the effect of:
 - (a) harming a student physically or emotionally or damaging a student's property, or placing a student in reasonable fear of personal harm or property damage; or
 - (b) insulting or demeaning a student or group of students causing substantial disruption in, or substantial interference with, the orderly operation of the school.
- (2) "School" means in a classroom, on school premises, on a school bus or other school-related vehicle, at an official school bus stop, at a school-sponsored activity or event whether or not it is held on school premises, or at another program or function where the school is responsible for the child.

59-63-130. Prohibited conduct; reports by witnesses.

- (A) A person may not engage in:
 - (1) harassment, intimidation, or bullying; or
 - (2) reprisal, retaliation, or false accusation against a victim, witness, or one with reliable information about an act of harassment, intimidation, or bullying.
- (B) A school employee, student, or volunteer who witnesses, or has reliable information that a student has been subject to harassment, intimidation, or bullying shall report the incident to the appropriate school official.

59-63-140. Local school districts to adopt policies prohibiting harassment; required components; model policies by State Board of Education; bullying prevention programs.

- (A) Before January 1, 2007, each local school district shall adopt a policy prohibiting harassment, intimidation, or bullying at school. The school district shall involve parents and guardians, school employees, volunteers, students, administrators, and community representatives in the process of creating the policy.
- (B) The policy must include, but not be limited to, the following components:
 - (1) a statement prohibiting harassment, intimidation, or bullying of a student;
 - (2) a definition of harassment, intimidation, or bullying no less inclusive than the definition in Section 59-63-120;
 - (3) a description of appropriate student behavior;
 - (4) consequences and appropriate remedial actions for persons committing acts of harassment, intimidation, or bullying, and for persons engaging in reprisal or retaliation;
 - (5) procedures for reporting acts of harassment, intimidation, or bullying, to include a provision for reporting anonymously. However, formal disciplinary action must not be taken solely on the basis of an anonymous report. The procedures must identify the appropriate school personnel responsible for taking the report and investigating the complaint;
 - (6) procedures for prompt investigation of reports of serious violations and complaints;
 - (7) a statement that prohibits reprisal or retaliation against a person who reports an act of harassment, intimidation, or bullying;
 - (8) consequences and appropriate remedial action for persons found to have falsely accused another;
 - (9) a process for discussing the district's harassment, intimidation, or bullying policy with students; and
 - (10) a statement of how the policy is to be publicized, including notice that the policy applies to participation in school-sponsored functions.
- (C) To assist local school districts in developing policies for the prevention of harassment, intimidation, or bullying, the State Board of Education shall develop model policies applicable to grades kindergarten through twelve. Additionally, the State Board of Education shall develop teacher preparation program standards on the identification and prevention of bullying. The model policies and standards must be developed no later than September 1, 2006.
- (D) The local school board shall ensure that the school district's policy developed pursuant to this article is included in the school district's publication of the comprehensive rules, procedures, and standards of conduct for schools and in the student's handbook.
- (E) Information regarding a local school district policy against harassment, intimidation, or bullying must be incorporated into a school's employee training program. Training also should be provided to school volunteers who have significant contact with students.
- (F) Schools and school districts are encouraged to establish bullying prevention programs and other initiatives involving school staff, students, administrators, volunteers, parents, law enforcement, and community members.

59-63-150. Availability of civil or criminal redress; immunity of reporting school employee or volunteer.

- (A) This article must not be interpreted to prevent a victim from seeking redress pursuant to another available civil or criminal law. This section does not create or alter tort liability.
- (B) A school employee or volunteer who promptly reports an incident of harassment, intimidation, or bullying to the appropriate school official designated by the local school district's policy, and who makes

this report in compliance with the procedures in the district's policy, is immune from a cause of action for damages arising from failure to remedy the reported incident.

59-63-275. Student hazing prohibited; definitions.

- (A) For purposes of this section:
 - (1) "Student" means a person enrolled in a public education institution.
 - (2) "Superior student" means a student who has attended a state university, college, or other public education institution longer than another student or who has an official position giving authority over another student.
 - (3) "Subordinate student" means a person who attends a public education institution who is not defined as a "superior student" in item (2).
 - (4) "Hazing" means the wrongful striking, laying open hand upon, threatening with violence, or offering to do bodily harm by a superior student to a subordinate student with intent to punish or injure the subordinate student, or other unauthorized treatment by the superior student of a subordinate student of a tyrannical, abusive, shameful, insulting, or humiliating nature.
- (B) Hazing at all public education institutions is prohibited. When an investigation has disclosed substantial evidence that a student has committed an act or acts of hazing, the student may be dismissed, expelled, suspended, or punished as the principal considers appropriate.
- (C) The provisions of this section are in addition to the provisions of Article 6, Chapter 3 of Title 16.

59-63-425. Transfer upon violation of restraining order; interscholastic activity eligibility.

A high school student who is the victim of physical abuse, harassment, or stalking by a classmate during school hours or otherwise resulting in a restraining order being granted against the classmate by a court of competent jurisdiction may transfer with the consent of the student's school district to another high school within or out of the district within thirty school days of the restraining order being violated, without any loss of eligibility to participate in interscholastic activities at the school to which the student transfers.

REGULATIONS

43-279. Minimum standards of student conduct and disciplinary enforcement procedures to be implemented by local school districts.

- IV. Minimum Standards
 - B. Disruptive Conduct-Level II
 - 2. Acts of disruptive conduct may include, but are not limited to:
 - n. Inappropriate use of technology (e.g., bullying, harassing, or intimidating other students or district employees, plagiarizing copyrighted materials, and accessing inappropriate websites).

Dating and Relationship Violence

LAWS

No relevant laws found.

REGULATIONS

No relevant regulations found.

Prevention, Behavioral Intervention, and Supports

State Model Policies and Implementation Support

LAWS

59-5-65. Powers and responsibilities of State Board of Education.

The State Board of Education shall have the power and responsibility to:

- (15) Develop by regulation a model safe schools checklist to be used by school districts on a regular basis to assess their schools' safety strengths and weaknesses. The checklist must include:
 - (a) the existence of a comprehensive safety plan;
 - (b) communication of discipline policies and procedures;
 - (c) intraagency and interagency emergency planning;
 - (d) recording of disruptive incidents;
 - (e) training of staff and students;
 - (f) assessment of buildings and grounds;
 - (g) procedures for handling visitors;
 - (h) assignment of personnel in emergencies;
 - (i) emergency communication and management procedures; and
 - (j) transportation rules and accident procedures.

59-17-135. Character education.

(G) Upon request, the State Department of Education must provide to the school districts of the State information on currently available programs, curriculums, and resources. In addition, the State Department of Education must provide to the school districts of the State information on best practices and successful programs currently being implemented.

59-63-140. Local school districts to adopt policies prohibiting harassment; required components; model policies by State Board of Education; bullying prevention programs.

(C) To assist local school districts in developing policies for the prevention of harassment, intimidation, or bullying, the State Board of Education shall develop model policies applicable to grades kindergarten through twelve. Additionally, the State Board of Education shall develop teacher preparation program standards on the identification and prevention of bullying. The model policies and standards must be developed no later than September 1, 2006.

59-63-320. Reporting form.

By December 31, 1990, the State Department of Education, after consultation with the State Law Enforcement Division, shall develop a standard school crime reporting form which must be used by all school districts in the State. The form must define what constitutes criminal activity required to be reported and must include, but is not limited to, the following:

- (1) types and frequency of criminal incident;
- (2) crimes against the person, including:
 - (a) description of crime;

- (b) age and sex of offender and whether the offender is a student. If the offender is a student, whether he attended the school where the crime occurred or a different school, and whether he was under school suspension or expulsion at the time of the offense;
- (c) age and sex of the victim and whether the victim is a student. If the victim is a student, whether he attended the school where the crime occurred or a different school. If the victim is not a student, whether he was employed at the school and, if so, in what capacity;
- (d) where, at what time, and under what circumstances the incident occurred;
- (e) the cost of the crime to the school and to the victim;
- (f) what action was taken by the school administration;
- (3) crimes against property, including:
 - (a) description of the crime;
 - (b) where, at what time, and under what circumstances the crime occurred;
 - (c) the cost of the crime to the school and to the victim;
 - (d) what action was taken by the school administration.

59-63-1400. Review; technical assistance.

The State Department of Education shall review alternative school plans for eligibility for funding and provide technical assistance for planning, establishing, and implementing an alternative school based on best practice. The department shall assist any district or consortia whose plan does not meet the eligibility criteria; however, no funding will be approved until the plan ensures implementation of appropriate services for students served by the alternative school.

59-66-40. School safety task force.

- (A)(1) There is created a school safety task force to:
 - (a) examine the various funding streams for school-based mental health services and determine how these streams may best be utilized in order to provide more accessible and efficient delivery of mental health programs;
 - (b) examine school mental health staffing ratios and provide suggestions that allow for the full delivery of services and effective school-community partnerships, including collaboration between school districts;
 - (c) develop standards for district level policies to promote effective school discipline and mental health intervention services;
 - (d) examine current intra- and interagency collaboration and suggest ways to improve cooperation; and
 - (e) examine how to best support multitiered systems of support.

REGULATIONS

43-166. Student and school safety.

A. School Safety Assessment

- 1. The State Department of Education shall develop a Model Safe Schools Checklist designed to assess schools' safety strengths and weaknesses. The checklist must include items addressing the following topics:
 - a. the existence of a comprehensive safety plan;
 - b. communication of discipline policies and procedures;

- c. intra-agency and interagency emergency planning;
- d. recording of disruptive incidents;
- e. training of staff and students;
- f. assessment of buildings and grounds;
- g. procedures for handling visitors;
- h. assignment of personnel in emergencies;
- i. emergency communication and management procedures; and
- j. transportation rules and accident procedures.
- 2. The State Department of Education shall submit the checklist to the State Board of Education for approval prior to dissemination to the school districts. The checklist may be revised on an annual basis by the State Board of Education in compliance with relevant provisions of the Safe Schools Act of 1990.
- 3. Prior to September 30 of each school year, the State Department of Education shall disseminate a copy of the model safe schools checklist to every public school district in the state.
- 4. School districts shall be advised by the Department of Education of the requirement to use a safe schools checklist in compliance with Section 59-5-65, S.C. Code of Laws, 1976. This safety assessment should be part of the comprehensive needs assessment conducted for school improvement purposes in compliance with Section 59-20-60(4)(d), S.C. Code of Laws, 1976. In particular, a safe schools check list should be utilized in determining "school climate" needs, one of the six indicators of school effectiveness.

B. First Aid Supplies

Each school shall provide adequate first aid supplies and equipment.

C. Support for Authorities

The Board urges all citizens to continue their active and vigorous support of the local school and civil authorities in insuring the personal safety and security of all students and teachers.

D. Emergency and Disaster Plans

A plan shall be designed to provide for the protection and welfare of students in the event of any disaster (tornado, hurricane, fire, etc.) which threatens to involve the school community. Each school shall conduct at least one emergency drill within the first month of school to insure safety against such disasters.

E. Guidelines will be developed by the State Department of Education which will refer to statutory provisions relating to school safety, as well as additional information. The State Department of Education will review and update these guidelines as needed.

43-274. Student attendance.

IX. Guidelines

Additional information relating to the implementation of this regulation will be contained in South Carolina Department of Education Guidelines. The South Carolina Department of Education will review and update these guidelines as needed.

Multi-tiered Frameworks and Systems of Support

LAWS

59-66-40. School safety task force.

(A)(1) There is created a school safety task force to:

(e) examine how to best support multitiered systems of support.

REGULATIONS

No relevant regulations found.

Prevention

LAWS

No relevant laws found.

REGULATIONS

No relevant regulations found.

Social-emotional Learning (SEL)

LAWS

59-17-135. Character education.

- (A) The General Assembly finds:
 - (1) the schools of South Carolina must provide the safest environment possible for students to learn;
 - (2) teaching positive character traits is essential to improving the learning environment, promoting student achievement, reducing disciplinary problems, and developing civic-minded students;
 - (3) schools must be encouraged to instill the highest character and academic excellence in each student, in close cooperation with the student's parents; and
 - (4) elected officials, community and civic leaders, business leaders, religious institutions, youth organizations, government, media, and citizens-at-large must be encouraged to become actively involved in creating an atmosphere which encourages positive character development through every sector of the community.
- (B) Each local school board of trustees of the State must develop a policy addressing character education. Any character education program implemented by a district as a result of an adopted policy must, to the extent possible, incorporate character traits including, but not limited to, the following: respect for authority and respect for others, honesty, self-control, cleanliness, courtesy, good manners, cooperation, citizenship, patriotism, courage, fairness, kindness, self-respect, compassion, diligence, good work ethics, sound educational habits, generosity, punctuality, cheerfulness, patience, sportsmanship, loyalty, and virtue. Local school boards must include all sectors of the community, as referenced in subsection (A)(4), in the development of a policy and in the development of any program implemented as a result of the policy. As part of any policy and program developed by the local school board, an evaluation component must be included.

REGULATIONS

No relevant regulations found.

Trauma-informed Practices

LAWS

No relevant laws found.

REGULATIONS

No relevant regulations found.

Mental Health Literacy Training

LAWS

No relevant laws found.

REGULATIONS

No relevant regulations found.

School-based Behavioral Health Programs

LAWS

59-20-60. Spending priority; audits; evaluations and reports; statewide testing programs; innovation initiatives; school improvement councils; Education finance review committee.

- (4) Each plan shall provide for an Innovation Initiative, designed to encourage innovative and comprehensive approaches based on strategies identified in the research literature to be effective. The Innovation Initiative must be utilized by school districts to implement innovative approaches designed to improve student learning and accelerate the performance of all students. Funds may be expended on strategies in one or more of the following four categories:
 - (d) creating appropriate relationships between schools and other social service agencies by improving relationships between the school and community agencies (health, social, mental health), parents and the business community, and by establishing procedures that cooperatively focus the resources of the greater community upon barriers to success in school, particularly in the areas of early childhood and parenting programs, after-school programs, and adolescent services.

59-66-40. School safety task force.

- (A)(1) There is created a school safety task force to:
 - (a) examine the various funding streams for school-based mental health services and determine how these streams may best be utilized in order to provide more accessible and efficient delivery of mental health programs;
 - (b) examine school mental health staffing ratios and provide suggestions that allow for the full delivery of services and effective school-community partnerships, including collaboration between school districts;
 - (c) develop standards for district level policies to promote effective school discipline and mental health intervention services;
 - (d) examine current intra- and interagency collaboration and suggest ways to improve cooperation; and
 - (e) examine how to best support multitiered systems of support.

REGULATIONS

No relevant regulations found.

Monitoring and Accountability

Formal Incident Reporting of Conduct Violations

LAWS

59-63-130. Prohibited conduct; reports by witnesses.

- (A) A person may not engage in:
 - (1) harassment, intimidation, or bullying; or
 - (2) reprisal, retaliation, or false accusation against a victim, witness, or one with reliable information about an act of harassment, intimidation, or bullying.
- (B) A school employee, student, or volunteer who witnesses, or has reliable information that a student has been subject to harassment, intimidation, or bullying shall report the incident to the appropriate school official.

59-63-140. Local school districts to adopt policies prohibiting harassment; required components; model policies by State Board of Education; bullying prevention programs.

- (A) Before January 1, 2007, each local school district shall adopt a policy prohibiting harassment, intimidation, or bullying at school. The school district shall involve parents and guardians, school employees, volunteers, students, administrators, and community representatives in the process of creating the policy.
- (B) The policy must include, but not be limited to, the following components:
 - (5) procedures for reporting acts of harassment, intimidation, or bullying, to include a provision for reporting anonymously. However, formal disciplinary action must not be taken solely on the basis of an anonymous report. The procedures must identify the appropriate school personnel responsible for taking the report and investigating the complaint.

59-63-320. Reporting form.

By December 31, 1990, the State Department of Education, after consultation with the State Law Enforcement Division, shall develop a standard school crime reporting form which must be used by all school districts in the State. The form must define what constitutes criminal activity required to be reported and must include, but is not limited to, the following:

- (1) types and frequency of criminal incident;
- (2) crimes against the person, including:
 - (a) description of crime;
 - (b) age and sex of offender and whether the offender is a student. If the offender is a student, whether he attended the school where the crime occurred or a different school, and whether he was under school suspension or expulsion at the time of the offense;
 - (c) age and sex of the victim and whether the victim is a student. If the victim is a student, whether he attended the school where the crime occurred or a different school. If the victim is not a student, whether he was employed at the school and, if so, in what capacity;
 - (d) where, at what time, and under what circumstances the incident occurred;
 - (e) the cost of the crime to the school and to the victim;
 - (f) what action was taken by the school administration;
- (3) crimes against property, including:

- (a) description of the crime;
- (b) where, at what time, and under what circumstances the crime occurred;
- (c) the cost of the crime to the school and to the victim;
- (d) what action was taken by the school administration.

59-63-335. Failure of school administrator to report criminal conduct; liability.

Failure of a school administrator to report criminal conduct as set forth in Section 59-24-60 or failure to report information concerning school-related crime pursuant to Section 59-63-330 shall subject the administrator and the school district to liability for payment of a party's attorney's fees and the costs associated with an action to seek a writ of mandamus to compel the administrator and school district to comply with Section 59-24-60 or 59-63-330.

59-63-380. School official reporting school related crimes; immunity.

A person affiliated with a school in an official capacity is granted immunity from criminal prosecution and civil liability when making a report of school-related crime in good faith, to the extent that the exposure to criminal prosecution or civil liability arises from the same report of school-related crime.

59-65-260. Duties of attendance supervisor relating to nonattending children.

The attendance supervisor shall, upon receiving the list of nonattending children from the county superintendent of education, contact as rapidly as possible the parents or guardians of such nonattending children with the object in mind of interesting nonattending children in school work, and influencing them by means of persuasion to attend school regularly. All principals shall report to such attendance supervisor on continuous absences which appear to be unwarranted, and the attendance supervisor shall make an earnest effort to have enrolled and keep enrolled all children of school age in the county.

59-67-240. Other duties of driver; discipline of pupils for misconduct.

The driver of each school bus shall cooperate with the teachers in their work in the school to which he is transporting pupils by being on time in the mornings and waiting in the afternoons until all his pupils are dismissed by the school faculty and safely aboard his bus. He also shall take particular notice along his route in the mornings and give pupils within sight a reasonable time in which to board his bus. The driver shall be responsible for maintaining good conduct upon his bus and shall report promptly to the governing head of the school to or from which the pupils are transported any misconduct or any violation of the driver's instructions by any person riding in his bus.

District boards of school trustees in this State may authorize school administrators to suspend or expel pupils from riding a school bus for misconduct on the bus or for violating instructions of the driver.

REGULATIONS

43-166. Student and school safety.

A. School Safety Assessment

- 1. The State Department of Education shall develop a Model Safe Schools Checklist designed to assess schools' safety strengths and weaknesses. The checklist must include items addressing the following topics:
 - d. recording of disruptive incidents.

43-279. Minimum standards of student conduct and disciplinary enforcement procedures to be implemented by local school districts.

IV. Minimum Standards

A. Behavioral Misconduct-Level I

- 3. The basic enforcement procedures to be followed in instances of behavioral misconduct are:
 - a. Upon observation or notification and verification of acts of behavioral misconduct, the staff member shall take immediate action to rectify the misconduct. The staff member shall impose an appropriate consequence, and maintain a record of the misconduct and the consequence.
 - b. If, either in the opinion of the staff member or according to local school board policy, a certain misconduct is not immediately rectifiable, the problem shall be referred to the appropriate administrator for action specified by local school board policy.

Parental Notification

LAWS

59-1-454. Parental involvement program; parent/teacher conferences.

- (A) The State Department of Education shall develop a parental involvement program for use in elementary and secondary schools with grades four through eight. The purpose of the program is to improve parental participation in their child's school progress, ensure a smooth transition between the various levels of schooling and phases of education, increase communication between the school, parent, and child, provide greater accountability between the parent, school, and child, and lessen the possibility on all levels that parents are only provided opportunity to react to problems involving their child after such problems occur.
- (B) The parental involvement program should include such activities as regular visitation by parents to their child's school, involving parents, teachers, and administrators in school training sessions on such issues as communication between the school, parent, and child, student discipline, importance of homework, the taking and understanding of standardized testing and test scores, and general literacy.

59-63-230. Notices of suspensions; conferences with parents or guardian.

When a pupil is suspended from a class or a school, the administrator shall notify, in writing, the parents or legal guardian of the pupil, giving the reason for such suspension and setting a time and place when the administrator shall be available for a conference with the parents or guardian. The conference shall be set within three days of the date of the suspension. After the conference the parents or legal guardian may appeal the suspension to the board of trustees or to its authorized agent.

59-63-240. Expulsion for remainder of year; hearings.

The board may expel for the remainder of the school year a pupil for any of the reasons listed in § 59-63-210. If procedures for expulsion are initiated, the parents or legal guardian of the pupil shall be notified in writing of the time and the place of a hearing either before the board or a person or committee designated by the board. At the hearing the parents or legal guardian shall have the right to legal counsel and to all other regular legal rights including the right to question all witnesses. If the hearing is held by any authority other than the board of trustees, the right to appeal the decision to the board is reserved to either party. The hearing shall take place within fifteen days of the written notification at a time and place designated by the board and a decision shall be rendered within ten days of the hearing. The pupil may be suspended from school and all school activities during the time of the expulsion procedures. The

action of the board may be appealed to the proper court. The board may permanently expel any incorrigible pupil.

59-63-32. Requirements to enroll child in public school; affidavit; penalties for providing false information.

- (A) The school district may require an adult seeking to enroll a child who resides with the adult pursuant to Section 59-63-31(1)(c) to accept responsibility for making educational decisions concerning the child. These educational decisions may include, but not be limited to, receiving notices of discipline pursuant to Sections 59-63-230 and 59-63-240, attending conferences with school staff, and granting permission for athletic activities, field trips, and other activities as required.
- (B) The school district also must require an adult to complete and sign an affidavit:
 - (1) confirming the qualifications set out in Section 59-63-31(1)(c) establishing residency of the child in the school district;
 - (2) attesting that the child's claim of residency in the district is not primarily related to attendance at a particular school within the district; and
 - (3) accepting responsibility for educational decisions for the child.

59-65-260. Duties of attendance supervisor relating to nonattending children.

The attendance supervisor shall, upon receiving the list of nonattending children from the county superintendent of education, contact as rapidly as possible the parents or guardians of such nonattending children with the object in mind of interesting nonattending children in school work, and influencing them by means of persuasion to attend school regularly. All principals shall report to such attendance supervisor on continuous absences which appear to be unwarranted, and the attendance supervisor shall make an earnest effort to have enrolled and keep enrolled all children of school age in the county.

REGULATIONS

43-279. Minimum standards of student conduct and disciplinary enforcement procedures to be implemented by local school districts.

- IV. Minimum Standards
 - A. Behavioral Misconduct-Level I
 - 3. The basic enforcement procedures to be followed in instances of behavioral misconduct are:
 - c. The administrator shall meet with the reporting staff member, and, if necessary, the student and the parent or guardian, and impose the appropriate consequence and/or establish an intervention plan and/or behavioral contract. [...]
 - B. Disruptive Conduct-Level II
 - 3. The basic enforcement procedures to be followed in instances of disruptive conduct are:
 - b. The administrator shall notify the parent or guardian of the student's misconduct and related proceedings. The administrator shall meet with the student and, if necessary, the parent or guardian, confer with them about the student's misconduct and impose the appropriate disciplinary action. Verification shall be defined as the following:
 - (1) self-admittance by the student
 - (2) witnessed involvement of the student by school administrators staff
 - (3) parental admission of student involvement
 - (4) evidence obtained through investigation by school administrators and staff. [...]

- C. Criminal Conduct-Level III
 - 4. The basic enforcement procedures to be followed in instances of criminal conduct are:
 - b. An administrator shall notify the student's parent or guardian as soon as possible.

Data Collection, Review, and Reporting of Discipline Policies and Actions

LAWS

59-5-65. Powers and responsibilities of State Board of Education.

- (15) Develop by regulation a model safe schools checklist to be used by school districts on a regular basis to assess their schools' safety strengths and weaknesses. The checklist must include:
 - (d) recording of disruptive incidents.

59-18-900. Annual report cards; performance ratings; criteria; annual school progress narrative; trustee training; data regulations; military-connected student performance reports.

(D) The comprehensive report card must include a comprehensive set of performance indicators with information on comparisons, trends, needs, and performance over time which is helpful to parents and the public in evaluating the school. In addition, the comprehensive report card must include indicators that meet federal law requirements. Special efforts are to be made to ensure that the information contained in the report card is provided in an easily understood manner and a reader-friendly format. This information should also provide a context for the performance of the school. Where appropriate, the data should yield disaggregated results to schools and districts in planning for improvement. The report card should include information in such areas as programs and curriculum, school leadership, community and parent support, faculty qualifications, evaluations of the school by parents, teachers, and students. In addition, the report card must contain other criteria including, but not limited to, information on promotion and retention ratios, disciplinary climate, dropout ratios, dropout reduction data, dropout retention data, access to technology, student and teacher ratios, and attendance data.

59-63-330. Quarterly and annual reports.

On forms prepared and supplied by the State Department of Education, each school district in the State shall report school-related crime quarterly to the State Department of Education. The department shall compile the information received from the districts and annually, not later than January thirty-first of the year following the districts' final quarterly reports of the school year, make a report to the General Assembly on the findings. In addition, the State Department of Education shall, upon receipt, forward all information concerning school-related crime to the Attorney General's Office. This information shall be used by the Attorney General in the supervision of the prosecution of school crime.

59-63-333. School crime requirements to conform to federal "No Child Left Behind Act".

The State Department of Education shall conform the requirements of Sections 59-63-310 through 59-63-340 on school crime so as to fulfill the provisions of the 'No Child Left Behind Act of 2001' (20 U.S.C. Section 7912) which includes reports on persistently dangerous schools and on the frequency, seriousness, and incidence of violence and drug-related offenses resulting in suspensions and expulsions in elementary and secondary schools. A summary of the provisions of Article 4, Chapter 63 of Title 59 required to be included in the school's student handbook each year must be revised to conform with the requirements of this section.

59-63-360. Attorney General; representation of school districts.

The Attorney General shall monitor all reported school crimes. The Attorney General or his designee may represent the local school district when a criminal case is appealed to an appellate court of competent jurisdiction.

REGULATIONS

43-166. Student and school safety.

A. School Safety Assessment

- 1. The State Department of Education shall develop a Model Safe Schools Checklist designed to assess schools' safety strengths and weaknesses. The checklist must include items addressing the following topics:
 - d. recording of disruptive incidents.

43-274. Student attendance.

VIII. Reporting Requirements

The South Carolina Department of Education will develop and implement a standard reporting system for the adequate collection and reporting of truancy rates on a school-by-school basis.

43-274.1. At-risk students.

VI. Model, Initiative, and/or Program Evaluation and Assessment Reporting

All high schools must annually provide reports requested by the SCDE that relate to the implementation and effectiveness of models, initiatives, and/or programs addressing the needs of students at risk of dropping out of school. District and school report card contents must contain information on the disciplinary climate, promotion and retention ratios, dropout ratios, dropout reduction data, and attendance data. Districts and schools must be prepared to provide accurate and relevant data to the SCDE.

Partnerships between Schools and Law Enforcement

Referrals to Law Enforcement

LAWS

5-7-12. School resource officers; procedures for certain arrests; jurisdiction; employment rights.

- (A) The governing body of a municipality or county may upon the request of another governing body or of another political subdivision of the State, including school districts, designate certain officers to be assigned to the duty of a school resource officer and to work within the school systems of the municipality or county. The person assigned as a school resource officer shall have statewide jurisdiction to arrest persons committing crimes in connection with a school activity or school-sponsored event. In all circumstances in which a school resource officer arrests a student for a misdemeanor offense, the officer may issue a courtesy summons to appear to a student involved in the particular incident in connection with a school activity or school-sponsored event. Notwithstanding another provision of law, a student arrested for a misdemeanor offense by a school resource officer must have a bond hearing in magistrates court within twenty-four hours of his arrest. When acting pursuant to this section and outside of the sworn municipality or county of the school resource officer, the officer shall enjoy all authority, rights, privileges, and immunities, including coverage under the workers' compensation laws that he would have enjoyed if operating in his sworn jurisdiction.
- (B) For purposes of this section, a "school resource officer" is defined as a person who is a sworn law enforcement officer pursuant to the requirements of any jurisdiction of this State, who has completed the basic course of instruction for School Resource Officers as provided or recognized by the National Association of School Resource Officers or the South Carolina Criminal Justice Academy, and who is assigned to one or more school districts within this State to have as a primary duty the responsibility to act as a law enforcement officer, advisor, and teacher for that school district.

59-24-60. Requirement of school officials to contact law enforcement authorities when criminal conduct occurs.

In addition to other provisions required by law or by regulation of the State Board of Education, school administrators must contact law enforcement authorities immediately upon notice that a person is engaging or has engaged in activities on school property or at a school sanctioned or sponsored activity which may result or results in injury or serious threat of injury to the person or to another person or his property as defined in local board policy.

59-63-235. Expulsion of student determined to have brought firearm to school.

The district board must expel for no less than one year a student who is determined to have brought a firearm to a school or any setting under the jurisdiction of a local board of trustees. The expulsion must follow the procedures established pursuant to Section 59-63-240. The one-year expulsion is subject to modification by the district superintendent of education on a case-by-case basis. Students expelled pursuant to this section are not precluded from receiving educational services in an alternative setting. Each local board of trustees is to establish a policy which requires the student to be referred to the local county office of the Department of Juvenile Justice or its representative.

59-63-350. Local law enforcement.

Local law enforcement officials are required to contact the Attorney General's "school safety phone line" when any felony, assault and battery of a high and aggravated nature, crime involving a weapon, or drug offense is committed on school property or at a school-sanctioned or school-sponsored activity or any crime reported pursuant to Section 59-24-60.

59-63-360. Attorney General; representation of school districts.

The Attorney General shall monitor all reported school crimes. The Attorney General or his designee may represent the local school district when a criminal case is appealed to an appellate court of competent jurisdiction.

59-65-50. Nonattendance reported to court having jurisdiction of juveniles.

If the board of trustees of a school district or its designee is unable to obtain the school attendance of a child in the age group specified in § 59-65-10, the board or its designee shall report such nonattendance in writing to the juvenile court or such other court in the county as may have jurisdiction of juveniles but exclusive of magistrate's courts notwithstanding the provisions of § 22-3-540; provided, that no one except the board of trustees or its designee shall have the authority to institute the proceedings herein.

REGULATIONS

43-279. Minimum standards of student conduct and disciplinary enforcement procedures to be implemented by local school districts.

- IV. Minimum Standards
- B. Disruptive Conduct-Level II
 - 3. The basic enforcement procedures to be followed in instances of disruptive conduct are:
 - d. The administrator or other school officials may refer Level II misconduct to the School Resource Officer or other local law enforcement authorities only when the conduct rises to a level of criminality, and the conduct presents an immediate safety risk to one or more people or it is the third or subsequent act which rises to a level of criminality in that school year. [...]
- C. Criminal Conduct-Level III
 - 4. The basic enforcement procedures to be followed in instances of criminal conduct are:
 - a. Upon observation or notification and verification of a criminal offense, the administrator shall contact the School Resource Officer or local law enforcement authorities immediately.

School Resource Officer (SRO) or School Security Officer (SSO) Training or Certification

LAWS

5-7-12. School resource officers; procedures for certain arrests; jurisdiction; employment rights.

- (A) The governing body of a municipality or county may upon the request of another governing body or of another political subdivision of the State, including school districts, designate certain officers to be assigned to the duty of a school resource officer and to work within the school systems of the municipality or county. The person assigned as a school resource officer shall have statewide jurisdiction to arrest persons committing crimes in connection with a school activity or school-sponsored event. In all circumstances in which a school resource officer arrests a student for a misdemeanor offense, the officer may issue a courtesy summons to appear to a student involved in the particular incident in connection with a school activity or school-sponsored event. Notwithstanding another provision of law, a student arrested for a misdemeanor offense by a school resource officer must have a bond hearing in magistrates court within twenty-four hours of his arrest. When acting pursuant to this section and outside of the sworn municipality or county of the school resource officer, the officer shall enjoy all authority, rights, privileges, and immunities, including coverage under the workers' compensation laws that he would have enjoyed if operating in his sworn jurisdiction.
- (B) For purposes of this section, a "school resource officer" is defined as a person who is a sworn law enforcement officer pursuant to the requirements of any jurisdiction of this State, who has completed the basic course of instruction for School Resource Officers as provided or recognized by the National

Association of School Resource Officers or the South Carolina Criminal Justice Academy, and who is assigned to one or more school districts within this State to have as a primary duty the responsibility to act as a law enforcement officer, advisor, and teacher for that school district.

REGULATIONS

No relevant regulations found.

Authorizations, Memoranda of Understanding (MOUs), and/or Funding LAWS

5-7-12. School resource officers; procedures for certain arrests; jurisdiction; employment rights.

- (A) The governing body of a municipality or county may upon the request of another governing body or of another political subdivision of the State, including school districts, designate certain officers to be assigned to the duty of a school resource officer and to work within the school systems of the municipality or county. The person assigned as a school resource officer shall have statewide jurisdiction to arrest persons committing crimes in connection with a school activity or school-sponsored event. In all circumstances in which a school resource officer arrests a student for a misdemeanor offense, the officer may issue a courtesy summons to appear to a student involved in the particular incident in connection with a school activity or school-sponsored event. Notwithstanding another provision of law, a student arrested for a misdemeanor offense by a school resource officer must have a bond hearing in magistrates court within twenty-four hours of his arrest. When acting pursuant to this section and outside of the sworn municipality or county of the school resource officer, the officer shall enjoy all authority, rights, privileges, and immunities, including coverage under the workers' compensation laws that he would have enjoyed if operating in his sworn jurisdiction.
- (B) For purposes of this section, a "school resource officer" is defined as a person who is a sworn law enforcement officer pursuant to the requirements of any jurisdiction of this State, who has completed the basic course of instruction for School Resource Officers as provided or recognized by the National Association of School Resource Officers or the South Carolina Criminal Justice Academy, and who is assigned to one or more school districts within this State to have as a primary duty the responsibility to act as a law enforcement officer, advisor, and teacher for that school district.

REGULATIONS

43-210. School resource officers.

I. Expectations for School Resource Officers in South Carolina Public Schools

School resource officers are necessary to provide law enforcement services to a safe learning environment. School resource officers shall act in accordance with policies and procedures of the local law enforcement agency or employing local governmental entity to enforce state laws and county and municipal ordinances.

II. Resource Officers Defined

A school resource officer is defined in S.C. Code Ann § 5-7-12.

III. Role of the School Resource Officer

A. Law Enforcement Officer

School resource officers shall not only be called to respond to criminal incidents, but also to assist in emergency crisis planning, building security, and training school personnel on handling crisis situations.

B. Law-Related Educator

Teachers and staff shall utilize school resource officers within the classroom to help design and present law-related topics regarding the role of law enforcement in our society.

C. Community Liaison

School administrators shall encourage school resource officers' visibility within the school community, as well as attendance and participation at school functions, to build working relationships with school personnel, students, and parents.

D. Positive Role Model

School resource officers shall be positive role models and may be used to promote the profession of law enforcement as a career choice for students. School administrators shall support positive interactions between school resource officers and students on school campuses.

IV. Procedures

A. Student Behavior

School resource officers are not school disciplinarians and shall not ordinarily be requested or permitted to intervene in school discipline matters. The school resource officers shall be called when a student's behavior amounts to a Level III violation for which law enforcement involvement is required (see Regulation 43-279). School resource officers shall be called to respond to any misconduct when

- 1. the conduct is criminal, or
- 2. the conduct presents an immediate safety risk to one or more people.

In addition, school administrators must also contact law enforcement consistent with S.C. Code Ann. 59-24-60.

When law enforcement referrals are required, a school resource officer shall be the first line of contact for local law enforcement to ensure that the matter is resolved expeditiously to decrease significant interruption to the learning process.

B. General provision for visitors, employees, and unauthorized persons.

The school resource officer shall be called immediately to handle a disturbance or emergency as defined in S.C. Code Ann. 16-17-420.

V. Memorandum of Understanding

Prior to placing a school resource officer at a school or in a district office, a memorandum of understanding must be executed between the school district, and the employing local law enforcement agency. The role of the school district, individual schools, local law enforcement agency, school administration, and the school resource officer shall be clearly defined in the memorandum of understanding. The role of the school resource officer must clearly be defined pursuant to S.C. Code Ann 5-7-12 and in the memorandum of understanding. The provisions of this regulation and Regulation 43- 279 must be included in the memorandum of understanding.

The school district shall provide the school administration with a copy of the memorandum of understanding, and review it with the school administration and with the school resource officer prior to the start of every school year.

Threat Assessment Protocols

LAWS

No relevant laws found.

REGULATIONS

No relevant regulations found.

State-Sponsored, Publicly Available Websites or Other Resources on School Discipline

Safe, supportive learning environments use disciplinary policies and practices that help students stay out of the justice system, while ensuring academic engagement and success for all students. The following resources provided by South Carolina provide additional context to state policy and regulations and, in some cases, may support the readers' efforts to provide a positive disciplinary school climate.

Title	Description	Website address (if applicable)	
Website			
Bullying, South Carolina Department of Education (SCDE)	Provides an overview on bullying and includes links to cyberbullying resources and model policy prohibiting harassment.	https://ed.sc.gov/districts- schools/school-safety/bullying/	
Multi-Tiered System of Supports (MTSS), SCDE	Provides information and resources regarding MTSS including a brief overview, guidelines for schools and districts, training documents, and legislative documents.	https://ed.sc.gov/instruction/early- learning-and-literacy/multi-tiered- system-of-supports-mtss/	
School Safety, SCDE	Provides links to resource about health and safety surveys, discipline related reports, safe schools, and anti-bullying resources.	https://ed.sc.gov/districts- schools/school-safety/	
SC Safe Schools, SCDE	Provides resources and tools regarding active shooter, substance abuse and prevention, and school violence.	https://ed.sc.gov/districts- schools/school-safety/resources- and-training/safety-resources/	
Social Emotional Learning (SEL), SCDE	Overviews social emotional leaning in SC and provides additional resources for school districts regarding SEL and Positive Behavioral Interventions and Supports (PBIS).	https://ed.sc.gov/districts-schools/special-education-services/social-emotional-learning/#SEL	
Documents			
Minimum Standards of Student Conduct and Disciplinary Enforcement Procedures to be Implemented by Local School Districts (May 2017), SCDE	Document presents State Board regulation regarding minimum standards of student conduct and disciplinary enforcement procedures to be implemented by local school districts.	https://www.scstatehouse.gov/CommitteeInfo/SchoolSafetyTaskForce/Regulation%2043-279.pdf	

Title	Description	Website address (if applicable)
Model Policy Prohibiting Harassment, Intimidation, or Bullying (April 2006), SCDE	Model policy addressing the prohibition of harassment, intimidation, or bullying in South Carolina schools.	https://ed.sc.gov/districts- schools/school- safety/bullying/model-policy- prohibiting-harassment/
School Based Behavioral Threat Assessment and Management: Best Practices for South Carolina Schools K-12 (May 2020), SCDE	Guidance document for school districts and school administrators to help assist in BTAM implementation and management.	https://ed.sc.gov/districts- schools/school-safety/resources- and-training/safety-resources/sc- school-based-threat-assessment- guide/
Other Resources		
Best Practices for Supporting Educators with Discipline (February 2019), SCDE	Best practices document provides an overview of laws and policies related to effective discipline, best practices: what works in schools, focus groups recommendations, and department training opportunities.	https://ed.sc.gov/districts- schools/school-safety/discipline- related-reports/best-practices-for- supporting-educators-with- discipline/
Reducing the Risk of School Violence, SCDE	Guidance video provided to assist South Carolina educators effectively respond to potential threat behaviors and to increase safety awareness.	https://www.kaltura.com/index.php/extwidget/preview/partner_id/1675021/uiconf_id/26557781/entry_id/1_gg_cpq959/embed/dynamic?
Six Components of MTSS Modules, SCDE	Webinar series developed for school administrators to further educate school leaders and educators on MTSS to ensure greater success of implementation.	https://ed.sc.gov/instruction/early- learning-and-literacy/multi-tiered- system-of-supports-mtss/six- components-of-mtss-modules/
Truancy, Suspension and Expulsion Data, SCDE	Truancy, and suspension/expulsion reports on the number of students meeting the definition of habitual truant, chronic truant, and truant.	http://ed.sc.gov/districts- schools/school-safety/discipline- related-reports/truancy-suspension- and-expulsion-data/